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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 

 

 

 

Dear Shareholders 

 

The past year has been truly transformational for Tulla Resources. 

 

In March 2021 the Company successfully listed on the ASX and commenced trading giving our shareholders a platform 

to freely trade their holdings in Tulla Resources. We welcomed onboard a number of new investors in the Company and 

appreciate their support.  

 

As a prelude to the admission to the ASX the Company undertook a major corporate reorganisation that included the 

repayment of all debt to Tulla Private who had financed the Company for over 9 years. 

 

As part of the reorganisation and listing we welcomed Mark Maloney, Andrew Greville and Mike Anglin to the Board. 

This added considerable investment banking and international mining expertise which is invaluable. I would also like to 

personally thank David Steinepreis, who elected to resign from the Board on admission, for his dedicated service as a 

director of the Company over two periods for a total of over 15 years. 

 

While we have a small management team, they are industrious and hardworking and on behalf of the Board we thank 

them for their work over this challenging period as we underwent a complete corporate overhaul. We have also recently 

welcomed Andy Robb to the team to provide technical advice to the Company. 

 

In April 2021, our joint venture partner at the Norseman Gold Project completed its Sole Funding obligations and the 

unincorporated 50/50 joint venture commenced. 

 

As you will observe from the Operations Report, it has also been a very busy and productive time on site at the Norseman 

Gold Project. The Joint Venture has undertaken substantial exploration drilling which has culminated in the release of a 

maiden Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve at Green Lantern in the Scotia Mining District. The old Phoenix Plant has 

been decommissioned and preparations are well underway to commence construction of the new processing plant. 

 

In my personal opinion (with which certain recent Broker Research Reports concur) the current share price does not 

reflect the underlying value and significant potential upside of the Company. 

 

In addressing this, we are’ focussed on continuing to work collaboratively with our joint venture partner in pursuing the 

recommencement of production at Norseman in 2022 and undertaking strategic exploration to seek to supplement and 

extend the mine plan for the benefit of all shareholders.  

 

Tulla Resources also has interests in various Industrial Mineral rights in accordance with the FJVA and other minerals 

that form part of the Joint Venture at Norseman and the Board is currently undertaking a review of the economic potential 

of these -Minerals for shareholders. We are also monitoring for potential strategic investments through the directors’ 

extensive international networks. 

 

The year ahead is an exciting one for Tulla Resources and its shareholders as it progresses towards production at the 

flagship Norseman Gold Project. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

 

Kevin Maloney 

Executive Chairman 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

The Directors present the Annual Report, together with the audited financial statements of Tulla Resources Plc and its 

subsidiary undertakings (“the Group” or “the Company” or “Tulla Resources”) for the year ended 30 June 2021.  

 

Business review 

Pursuant to an agreement dated 14 May 2019, Pantoro South Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Pantoro Limited 

(ASX: PNR) (collectively “Pantoro”) acquired a 50% ownership of the Norseman Gold Project through a Farm In and 

Joint Venture Agreement (FJVA) with Central Norseman Gold Corporation Pty Ltd (“CNGC”) and the Company. 

 

Under the terms of the FJVA a deferred cash consideration of AUD$5.0 million was paid on 9 July 2020. The Second 

Deferred Payment of AUD$10.0 million due on 9 July 2021 was assigned to Tulla Private pursuant to a Deed of 

Assignment (see below). 

 

Pantoro was contractually obligated under the FJVA to spend AUD$50.0 million on the Norseman Gold Project for the 

period known as the “Sole Funding Period”. The Company was not liable for any financial contribution to the Norseman 

Gold Project during the Sole Funding Period.  

 

On 8 April 2021, Pantoro gave notice that it had expended the Sole Funding Amount and accordingly, an unincorporated 

joint venture (“UJV”) was formed with Tulla Resources having a 50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project. A 

Management Committee representing the Joint Venture Parties (JV Parties) was established and Kevin Maloney, the 

Executive Chairman of Tulla Resources was nominated as the Company representative. Each JV Party has a 50% vote 

on the Management Committee, save for some matters that require unanimous consent. 

 

Pantoro has been appointed the Manager on behalf of the UJV as agent for the JV Parties. The role of the Management 

Committee is to supervise the Manager in the management of the joint venture and to make strategic decisions relating 

to the conduct of the Joint Venture Activities. The Manager reports to the Management Committee. The Manager has no 

voting rights except in the case where, for whatever reason, the Management Committee fails to approve the Proposed 

Programme and Budget and then, subject to any amendment or approval by the Manger being made in accordance with 

Best for Project Principle (i.e. making decisions in good faith based on return on equity for each JV Party). Tulla 

Resources has the right to appoint an Expert to determine that any such approval or amendments sought by the Manager 

to the Proposed Programme and Budget which are not agreed by the JV Parties are in accordance with Best for Project 

Principle. 

 

In accordance with the FJVA, there have been three (3) meetings held by the Management Committee during the financial 

year (23 October 2020, 2 March 2021 and 3 May 2021).  

 

Each JV Party has a first secured interest and cross security over the 50% interest in the Project held by the other JV 

Party as security for the payment of called sums and other amounts payable pursuant to the FJVA. No sums are currently 

owing by Tulla Resources. Pantoro’s outstanding obligations to Tulla Resources in relation to certain payments under 

the FJVA are secured pursuant to the deed of cross security. 

 

Following the discharge of all prior secured indebtedness of the Company, the Deed of Priority and Subordination with 

Pantoro as part of the FJVA is no longer of legal effect. 

 

The Operations Report of the activities undertaken at the Norseman Gold Project over the past financial year during the 

Sole Funding Period and the subsequent UJV is based on the Manager’s report to the Company and is set out at page 15. 

 

As previously reported by the Company, certain assets were excluded from the FJVA; including the accommodation 

camp on site at Norseman and a number of houses in the Norseman township which have been sold as part of the corporate 

reorganisation of the Group (see below at page 5). 

 

Industrial Minerals were also excluded from the FJVA (save for certain rights for Pantoro to subsequently participate) 

and the Company is evaluating the strategic commercialisation of these Industrial Mineral rights. 

 

The Manager has stated that it implemented Covid-19 Safe Working Practices at the Norseman Gold Project and has 

reported that COVID-19 has had little impact on operations during the financial year. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

Corporate 

As at 30 June 2021, Tulla Resources had 269,172,423 Ordinary shares of £0.022962 each, of which 268,417,020 are 

registered as Chess Depository Interests (“CDIs”) on the electronic CHESS sub-register. As outlined in the Prospectus 

dated 24 February 2021 all shareholders are able to request their shares be converted to CDIs to be traded on the ASX.  

 

On admission to the ASX, the Company receiving the proceeds of the Offer of AUD$78.3 million, and the share registry 

issued 87,000,000 CDIs at the listing price of AUD$0.90 per CDI. 

 

During the financial year the Company undertook a comprehensive corporate review in relation to its strategy to meet its 

funding obligations of the Norseman Gold Project and retained Treadstone Resource Partners as Corporate Advisors.  

 

Following a detailed analysis, the Company resolved to proceed with a capital raising via admission to the Official List 

of the ASX. 

 

The Company retained Bell Potter Securities Limited and Canaccord Genuity (Australia) Limited as joint lead managers 

and Herbert Smith Freehills as Australian lawyers together with the Company’s UK lawyers, Shakespeare Martineau 

together with a number of technical advisors.  

 

To facilitate, and integral to, the listing on the ASX the Company undertook a comprehensive corporate reorganisation, 

which can be summarised as follows: 

 

• Sale of Assets: On 11 February 2021 the Company sold non-key assets of CNGC being the accommodation 

camp and the Norseman town houses to Resource Accommodation Management Pty Ltd, a company 

connected to Kevin Maloney. These transactions were approved by the independent directors (at the time); 

 

• Assignment: On 11 February 2021 CNGC assigned to Tulla Private the Second Deferred Payment of $10 

million due on 9 July 2021 under the FJVA for the consideration of $10 million.  

 

• Tulla Private Debt Consolidation: Upon admission of the Company to the Official List of the ASX, Tulla 

Private terminated its AUD$60.0 million facility and released its security over CNGC on the terms set out 

in the Debt Consolidation Agreement dated 11 February 2021 which resulted in a cash payment of 

AUD$20.0 million from the proceeds of the Offer for the listing with the balance of indebtedness being 

converted to equity at the listing price of AUD$0.90 per CDI. 

 

• Purchase of Shares in Pantoro Ltd: Upon admission of the Company to the Official List of the ASX, the 

Company purchased 100 million ordinary shares in Pantoro Ltd from Tulla Private at a price of 

AUD$0.2102 per share (AUD$21.02 million), which represented the 10-day volume weighted average 

price (“VWAP”) at the close of the Prospectus Offer Date. Further, on 9 March 2021 the Company held a 

General Meeting where the Company’s shareholders passed the following Resolutions to: 

 

• Consolidate 600 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.00003827 each in the capital of the Company 

for one (1) New Ordinary Share with a nominal value of £0.022962 each in the capital of the Company.  

 

• Approve the purchase by the Company of the Deferred Shares with a nominal value of £0.01246173 each 

for the total consideration of £0.01 and then cancel the Deferred Shares pursuant to the terms of a Deferred 

Share Agreement dated 11 February 2021. The Deferred Shares have been cancelled; 

 

• Approve the total remuneration for the non-executive directors in the aggregate of up to £250,000; 

 

• Consequential amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association; 

 

• Allot up to 200,000,000 new ordinary shares of £0.022962 each (i.e. new post consolidation shares) for 

the listing and the debt for equity conversion of the balance of the Tulla Private indebtedness and the 

purchase by the Company of the shares in Pantoro owned by Tulla Private (as outlined in the Prospectus 

and the Circular).  

 

On 11 March 2021 the Board resolved to allot 152,828,667 New Ordinary Shares in the Company. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

Corporate (cont.) 

 

These matters are set out in the Circular and Notice of General Meeting to Shareholders dated 15 February 2021 which 

have been uploaded to the Company’s website. 

 

Prior to the Admission to the ASX, Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd (Tulla Private) continued to financially support the 

Company pursuant to the New Financing Agreement, being a $60 million, secured facility, which commenced with effect 

from 1 January 2020. Tulla Private is a private company owned and controlled by Kevin Maloney and his family and is 

a related party to the Company. As stated above the $60 million secured facility has been repaid and terminated and the 

security released. As at 30 June 2021, the Company is debt free. 

 

Legal and Governance 

During the Sole Funding Period and subsequently as Manager of the UJV, Pantoro was and is liable for all reporting and 

governance issues in relation to the Norseman Gold Project. The Company has been advised that the Manager is 

complying with all statutory compliance and governance obligations in relation to the Norseman Gold Project for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2021 and no statutory compliance obligations are overdue. 

 

Pursuant to the FJVA, the Company retained all legal liabilities for the period prior to 9 July 2019. The appeal by the 

Department of Mines, Industry Regulation & Safety (“DMIRS”) of CNGC’s acquittal with respect to the prosecution of 

the incident at the North Royal open pit in August 2015 was heard in the Supreme Court of Western Australia on 24 

November 2020. The decision is still outstanding. 

 

DMIRS has confirmed that it would not prosecute CNGC in relation to the electrical arc incident that occurred on site 

on 8 February 2018. This matter is now closed. 

 

Further details on the status of legal proceedings impacting the Company are included in Note 27 Contingent liabilities 

and commitments on page 64. 

 

Statement in Accordance with Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 

The Directors are required to make a statement which describes how they have behaved with regard to the matters set 

out in Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006, namely: 

 

Duty to promote the success of the company 

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long-term; 

(b) the need to foster the Group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers, and others; 

(c) the impact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment; 

(d) the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standard of business conduct;  

(e) the need to act fairly between members of the Group. 

 
Section 172 Statement 

The Directors insist on high operating standards and fiscal discipline and routinely engage with management and 

consultants of the Group to understand the underlying issues within the Group. Additionally, the Board looks outside the 

Group at macro factors affecting the business. The Directors consider all known facts when developing strategic decisions 

and long-term plans, taking into account their likely consequences for the Group.   

 

The Group is committed to the highest levels of integrity and transparency possible with consultants, contractors and 

other stakeholders.  Safety initiatives, consistent training, strong benefit packages and open dialogue between all 

consultants and contractors are just a few of the ways the Group ensures its consultants and contractors improve skill 

sets and work hand-in-hand with management to improve all aspects of the Group’s performance. 

 

Other stakeholders include, joint venture partners, customers, suppliers, debt holders, industry associations, government 

and regulatory agencies, media, local communities and shareholders.  The Board, both individually and together, consider 

that they have acted in the way they consider would be most likely to promote the success of the Group as a whole. In 

order to do this, there is a process of dialogue with stakeholders to understand the issues that they might have. The Group 

believes that any supplier/customer relationship must be mutually beneficial, and the Group is known for its commitment 

to details to its customers.  Communications with debt holders and shareholders occur on an ongoing basis and as 

questions arise.  
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

Section 172 Statement (cont.) 

 

The Directors are committed to positive involvement in the local communities where we operate.  Part of this 

commitment is our program, where the Group supports local business in Norseman on various town festival days by 

donating equipment, accommodation and money.  Additionally, the Group strictly follows environmental regulations at 

its sites and supports sustainability practices where possible.  

 

Integrity is a key tenet for the Group’s Directors and stakeholders.  The Group believes that any partnership must benefit 

both parties. We strive to provide our stakeholders with timely and informative responses and are always striving to meet 

or exceed customers’ needs. 

 

The Board has implemented the following policies (which can be accessed on the Company website): 

(a) Disclosure Policy 

(b) Communications Strategy 

(c) Securities Dealing Policy 

(d) Code of Conduct 

(e) Diversity Policy 

(f) Speak Up Policy; and 

(g) Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy 

 

The Board recognises its responsibilities under section 172 as outlined above and has acted at all times in a way consistent 

with promoting the success of the Group with regard to all stakeholders. 

 

Subsequent events 

The following events have occurred subsequently to 30 June 2021: 

 

• On 14 September 2021 the Company announced a maiden Mineral Resource of 6.8Mt @ 1.4 grams per tonne 

(“g/t”) of gold (“Au”) for 300,000 ounces of gold and a maiden Ore Reserve of 2.65Mt @ 1.3g/t Au for 110,000 

ounces of gold at a cut-off trade of 0.6 g/t under the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012 edition) in respect to the new discovery at Green Lantern in the 

Scotia Mining Centre. The Company’s interest is 50% 

 

• On 27 September 2021 the Company announced a restated attributable Mineral Resource of 20.7 Mt @ 3.4 g/t 

Au for 2,267,000 ounces, and a restated attributable Ore Reserve of 5.8 Mt @ 1.9 g/t for 357,000 ounces t under 

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012 

edition); 

 

• On 28 September 2021 Stephen Law resigned as a Company Secretary and Stephen Maffey was appointed a 

Company Secretary of the Company. 

 

Going concern 

As stated above, on listing on the ASX in March 2021, the Company raised AUD$78.3 million from the cash proceeds 

of the Offer for the purposes of the Offer costs, repaying the Tulla Private debt (AUD$20 million cash) and to fund its 

50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project. 

 

The New Financing Agreement (AUD$60 million facility) approved by shareholders at the Company General Meeting 

on 31 December 2019, in respect of outstanding monies owed to Tulla Private, was terminated and the security released 

on the terms of the Debt Consolidation Agreement on the Admission of Tulla Resources to the ASX (see above). 

 

In ongoing funding of its 50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project prior to a positive cash flow from the 

recommencement of production scheduled for the financial year commencing 1 July 2022 the Group has a number of 

options available to it: 

 

• Sale of part of all of the Company’s 100 million shares in Pantoro with a market value of AUD$20.0 million as 

at 30 June 2021; 

 

• Exploring potential transactions for the development and operations of the Company’s Industrial Mineral rights 

in accordance with the FJVA and other minerals that form part of the Joint Venture, to generate cash flow; 

 

• Raising of capital (debt or equity) to meet its future Joint Venture funding obligations; 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

Going concern (cont.) 

 

• Sale of part or all of its interest in the Joint Venture to its joint venture partner or a third party; 

 

• The FJVA provides the Group the option to progressively dilute its interest in the Joint Venture if unable to 

meet future funding calls to the Joint Venture. 

 

The Group is currently exploring all options available to it in order to ensure the Group is a going concern and to 

maximise the value to the Group’s shareholders and is in advanced negotiations with a major financier for project 

financing. 

 

The Group may need to source additional funds to fund any future cash calls to retain its current interest in its investments 

at their current level. 

 

The Directors are confident that the Company will be successful in raising additional funds through one of the means 

identified above, should the need arise. However, factors beyond the Company’s control, including pandemic diseases 

such as Covid-19 (coronavirus), which affects the debt and equity markets, may in turn have a negative impact on any 

fund raising. 

 

Based on these facts, the Directors consider the going concern basis of preparation to be appropriate for this financial 

report. Should the Company be unsuccessful in raising additional funds through one of the means identified above, it 

may be forced to dispose of part or all of its interest in the Norseman Gold Project, or dilute its interest in the Norseman 

Gold Project in accordance with the dilution provisions in the FJVA. In the event that the Company is unable to source 

additional funds to meet its costs outside of the Norseman Gold Project, most of which are discretionary, save for the 

costs of compliance, there is a material uncertainty which may cast doubt whether the Group will be able to continue as 

a going concern and therefore, whether it will realise the full potential value of its assets and extinguish its liabilities in 

the normal course of business.   

 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relative to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset 

amounts or, to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a 

going concern. 

 

Key performance indicators 

The Group is currently in the development phase, accordingly the Group considers the key performance indicators to 

include: 

 

• Available cash balance at 30 June 2021 of AUD$50.0 million to contribute to the development of the Norseman 

Gold Project; 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss at 30 June 2021 of AUD$20.0 million, representing the 100 

million shares in Pantoro Ltd, which are a liquid asset of the Group to contribute to the development of the 

Norseman Gold Project; 

• Loans and borrowings at 30 June 2021 were all settled, providing the Group with the option to source debt 

facilities to contribute to the development of the Norseman Gold Project 

 

Attributable Mineral Resource of 2.27 million ounce of gold and attributable Ore Reserve of 357,000 ounces of gold, 

following the release of the Annual Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement on 27 September 2021. 

 

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company 

The Pantoro Transaction significantly de-risked the Group’s exposure to the Norseman Gold Project, particularly during 

the Sole Funding Period. Notwithstanding this, the Norseman Gold Project risks are as follows: 

 

Mineral exploration and mining are speculative undertakings  

 

The success of the Norseman Gold Project depends on, among other things, the successful exploration and/or acquisition 

of reserves, securing and maintaining title to tenements, successful design, construction, commissioning and operation 

of mining and processing facilities, successful development and production in accordance with expectations and 

successful management of operations.   
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company (cont.) 

 

Exploration activities are speculative in nature and require substantial expenditure on exploration surveys, drilling and 

sampling as a basis on which to establish the presence, extent and estimated grade of mineralised material. Even if 

significant mineralisation is discovered it may take additional time and further financial investment to determine whether 

Ore Reserves and/or Mineral Resources exist to support a development decision and to obtain necessary ore body 

knowledge to assess the technical and economic viability of mining projects. During that time, the economic viability of 

the Norseman Project may change due to fluctuations in factors that affect both revenue and costs, including metal prices, 

foreign exchange rates, the required return on capital, regulatory requirements and future cost of development and mining 

operations.   

 

Mineral Resource estimates and classification may not be converted to Ore Reserves or economically exploited  

 

The Mineral Resource estimates are estimates only and no assurances can be given that any particular level of recovery 

of mineral resources will in fact be realised. Mineral Resource estimates are expressions of judgement based on 

knowledge, experience and industry practice. Estimates which are valid when originally calculated may change 

significantly when new information or techniques become available. In addition, by their very nature, Mineral Resource 

estimates are necessarily imprecise and depend to some extent on interpretations, which may prove to be inaccurate.  

 

No assurance can be given that the Mineral Resources will be recovered at the quality or yield presented or that 

downgrades of reserves and resources will not occur, and there is no assurance that Inferred Mineral Resource estimates 

are capable of being directly reclassified as Ore Reserves under the JORC Code. The inclusion of Mineral Resource 

estimates should not be regarded as a representation that these amounts can be converted to Ore Reserves or economically 

exploited, and investors are cautioned not to place reliance on Mineral Resource estimates.  

 

The FJVA may be terminated, breached or not complied with  

 

While the Company is represented on the Management Committee for the joint venture (which has responsibility for 

deciding matters relating to the conduct of the joint venture), Pantoro is responsible for the management of the joint 

venture pursuant to the FJVA (see further Section 8.6.1). Therefore, the value of the Norseman Gold Project, and the 

Company’s financial performance and results, relies significantly on Pantoro successfully managing the Norseman Gold 

Project.   

 

Further, the conduct of joint venture arrangements are subject to a variety of risks including that:  

 

• the joint venture parties may disagree on operational decisions in relation to the Norseman Gold Project;  

• a joint venture party may not be able to meet its financial and other joint venture commitments; and  

• a joint venture party may otherwise breach, or fail to comply with, its obligations under the FJVA.  

 

The existence or occurrence of one or more of these circumstances or events may give rise to a right to terminate the 

FJVA and otherwise have a materially adverse impact on the operating and financial performance and results of the 

Norseman Gold Project and its underlying value. This is likely to materially adversely impact the value of Tulla 

Resources and the CDIs.  

 

The Group continues to monitor the Manager’s compliance with the FJVA through quarterly Joint Venture meetings and 

review of the periodic reporting by the Manager. 

 

Subject to operational failures and natural hazards   

 

The mining operations at the Norseman Gold Project are subject to operating risks and hazards including (without 

limitation) geological challenges and unanticipated ground conditions, failure of facilities, industrial incidents, 

infrastructure and equipment under-performance or failure, shortage of material supplies and inputs (such as fuel, power 

and water) or other supply chain failures, transportation and logistics issues in relation to the Norseman Gold Project’s 

workforce and equipment, underperformance of key suppliers or contractors, natural events and environmental incidents, 

climate change factors, health and safety related incidents, and interruptions and delays due to community and/or security 

issues. The occurrence of any of these risks or hazards could impact the operating performance of the Norseman Gold 

Project, including through increased costs, and decreased exploration and production.   

 

The Group has employed Andy Robb, an experienced Mining Engineer, on a part time basis, and engaged technical 

consultants to identify risks during the development phase and ensure appropriate mitigating actions are implemented.  
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
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Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company (cont.) 

 

There may be changes in laws and regulations or an inability to maintain title  

 

Mining operations, development projects and exploration activities are subject to various laws, policies and regulations 

and to obtaining and maintaining the necessary titles, authorisations, permits and licences, and associated land access 

arrangements with landowners and local communities and various layers of Government, which authorise those activities 

under relevant law, including native title laws (Authorisations).  

 

The legal framework that the Norseman Gold Project is subject to is complex, onerous and subject to change. Failure to 

comply with legal requirements may result in enforcement actions with potentially material consequences, such as 

financial penalties, suspension of operations and forfeiture of assets. This is also likely to be the case for other resource 

assets Tulla Resources acquires. Changes in laws, policies or regulations (including in respect of any government 

royalties that may apply to the Norseman Gold Project), or to the manner in which they are interpreted or applied, may 

result in material additional expenditure, taxes or costs, or interruption to, or operation of, the activities of the Project. 

Disputes arising from the application or interpretation of applicable laws, policies or regulations could also adversely 

impact the Norseman Gold Project’s operations, assets, financial performance and/or value.  

 

There can be no guarantee that all necessary Authorisations in relation to the Norseman Gold Project will be obtained 

and maintained, or that renewal of existing Authorisations will be granted in a timely manner or on acceptable terms, or 

that all conditions that are imposed will be complied with. Authorisations may also be subject to challenge by third 

parties which, if successful, could impact on exploration, development and/or mining and/or processing activities at the 

Norseman Gold Project or other resource assets.  

 

The mining and exploration activities at the Norseman Gold Project are dependent upon the maintenance (including 

renewal) of the Tenements. Maintenance of the Tenements is dependent on, among other things, meeting the licence 

conditions imposed by relevant authorities including compliance with work program requirements which, in turn, is 

dependent on sufficient funding to meet those expenditure requirements. Titles and access rights may be defective. No 

assurance can be given that such title and access rights are not subject to unregistered, undetected or other claims or 

interests, which could be materially adverse to the Norseman Gold Project. Further, titles or access rights may be 

disputed, which could result in costly litigation or disruption of operations.   

 

The Company may be unable to access appropriate funding   

 

The Company may seek (or need) to raise additional debt finance or new equity in the future to continue to fund its 

interest in the Norseman Gold Project. If there is a deterioration in the level of liquidity in the debt and equity markets, 

or the terms on which debt or equity is available, this may prevent the Company from being able to raise the relevant 

debt or equity. Consequently, if the Company is unable to access funding when required, this may have a material adverse 

effect on the Company’s financial position and hinder its ability to meet its financial obligations.   

 

Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to the Company’s Existing Securityholders and any debt financing, if 

available, may involve restrictive covenants which limit the Company’s business strategy.  

 

Further, there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to sell part or all of its 100 million shares in Pantoro and 

realise the fair market value reported in the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2021, to assist funding the future development 

plans of the Company 

 

The Group has retained Treadstone Resource Partners as Corporate Advisors to assist in the review and negotiation of 

debt finance options. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company (cont.) 

 

Commodity price volatility may adversely impact any revenue generated  

 

Any revenue generated by the Norseman Gold Project (for example) will primarily be derived from the sale of gold, 

which will be closely related to the market price of gold (which can vary materially during short periods of time). 

Commodity prices fluctuate and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. These factors 

include supply and demand fluctuations for precious and base metals, forward selling by major producers, and production 

cost levels in major gold producing regions. Moreover, commodity prices are also affected by macroeconomic factors 

such as expectations regarding inflation, interest rates and global and regional demand for, and supply of, the precious 

metals as well as general global economic conditions. These factors may have an adverse effect on the exploration, 

development and production activities of the Norseman Gold Project as well as the Company’s ability to meet its financial 

obligations in respect of the Norseman Gold Project.  

 

Tulla Resources may fail to implement its growth strategy successfully 

 

Tulla Resources’ growth strategy is to acquire other resources assets to provide both commodity and geographical 

diversity to the Company’s portfolio. Gold and copper have been identified as commodities to be prioritised. 

 

There is a risk that Tulla Resources may not succeed in implementing the growth strategy described in this Prospectus 

for a variety of reasons, including an inability to identify appropriate assets, inability to access debt or equity capital, 

actions of competitors, overall economic or market conditions (including commodity prices) or a failure to adapt its 

strategy over time where required. Such failure, and the costs incurred in seeking to implement its growth strategy, may 

materially and adversely affect the financial performance and future prospects of Tulla Resources. 

 

Environmental laws may not be complied with  

 

Mining operations have inherent risks and liabilities associated with potential harm to the environment. The activities at 

the Norseman Gold Project are therefore subject to extensive environmental law and regulation, which are continually 

changing. Compliance with these laws requires significant expenditure and non-compliance may potentially result in 

fines or requests for improvement actions from the regulator or could result in reputational harm.   

 

The operations at the Norseman Gold Project may create a risk of exposure to hazardous materials as hazardous materials 

are used, and hazardous waste products are produced, which must be disposed of in accordance with all applicable laws 

and regulations. Mining operations can also impact flows and water quality in surface and ground water bodies and 

remedial measures may be required to prevent or minimise such impacts. Impacts to biodiversity and air quality can also 

occur from these activities and requires active management and planning to minimise their adverse effects.   

 

The occurrence of an environmental incident has the potential to cause significant adverse reactions in the local 

community, which may result in additional costs, lead to operational disruptions or lead to regulatory action, which may 

include financial penalties.  

 

Climate change may impact the mining activity  

 

The emergence of new or expanded regulations associated with the transition to a lower-carbon economy and market 

changes related to climate change mitigation may impact the way in which mining activities are undertaken. By way of 

example, changes to regulations related to climate change mitigation efforts or specific taxation or penalties for carbon 

emissions or environmental damage may adversely impact the operations of the Norseman Gold Project and its financial 

performance and viability.  

 

Further, climate change may cause certain physical and environmental risks that cannot be predicted, including events 

such as increased severity of weather patterns and incidence of extreme weather events and longer-term physical risks 

such as shifting climate patterns. All these risks associated with climate change may significantly change the industry in 

which the Company operates.  
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Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company (cont.) 

 

Mining activities involve health and safety risks  

 

There are numerous occupational health and safety risks associated with mining processes such as travel to and from 

operations, the operation of heavy and complex machinery in challenging geographic locations and exposure to 

hazardous substances. These hazards may cause personal injury and/or loss of life to personnel, suppliers or other third 

parties, damage to property and contamination of the environment, which may result in the suspension of operations and 

the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, including fines, expenses for remediation and claims brought by 

governmental entities or third parties.  

 

The Manager of the Joint Venture is responsible for implementing appropriate induction protocols and safety procedures, 

and is required to report to the Joint Venture Committee each month on health and safety incidents. The Group monitors 

the ongoing performance of the Manager. 

 

The Company may be involved in litigation or other disputes  

 

Activities at the Norseman Project could result in substantial injury or damage, which may expose the Company to legal 

proceedings (both criminal and civil), investigations and disputes regarding personal injury and wrongful death claims, 

labour and landowner disputes. There may also be commercial disputes with customers, suppliers and service providers, 

in relation to goods or services provided to (or not provided to) the Norseman Gold Project.   

 

The Group ensures all contracts are reviewed and approved by appropriately qualified parties to reduce the risk of dispute 

to the Group. 

 

Legal proceedings, investigations and disputes regarding incidents or issues at the Norseman Gold Project have the 

potential to negatively impact upon the Company’s financial performance and results. Regardless of the ultimate outcome 

of such proceedings, investigations and disputes, and whether involving regulatory action or civil or criminal claims, 

there may be a material impact on the Company as a result of the associated costs (some of which may not be recoverable) 

and management time.  

 

Inclement weather/events may limit operations  

 

Norseman (where the Norseman Gold Project is located) is accessed via a network of roads both sealed and unsealed and 

various creek crossings. In the event of heavy rainfall, a section of the unsealed road may not be trafficable until excess 

water has discharged or evaporated in the normal course. If this were to occur, activities at the Project will likely be 

temporarily adversely impacted.  

 

Norseman is located in an area prone to earthquakes which may cause damage to infrastructure and equipment and shut 

down operations. 

 

The Company’s interests in certain assets are held concurrently 

 

Mining tenements granted under the Mining Act are capable of co-existing with pastoral/historical leases, Crown 

reserves, Crown land, public infrastructure and rights granted under other state and federal legislation. A number of the 

Tenements overlap with such interests and there is a risk that this may restrict the Company’s capacity to undertake 

mining on the affected Tenements or affect the Company’s access to surrounding Tenements. 

 

General counterparty risk 

 

The ability of the Company to achieve its stated objectives will depend to an extent on the performance of counterparties 

to material contracts. If Pantoro South defaults in the performance of its obligations under the FJVA or becomes 

insolvent, or if any other counterparty defaults in the performance of its obligations under a contract, it may be necessary 

for the Company to seek a legal remedy via the courts, which can be costly and without any certainty of a favourable 

outcome. Any of these outcomes could result in an adversely impact the Company’s ability to progress the Norseman 

Gold Project, as well as its operations, financial position and performance. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company (cont.) 

 

COVID-19  

 

Given the high degree of uncertainty surrounding the extent and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is not currently 

possible to assess the full impact of the pandemic on the Company, the Project or the economy generally. However, a 

prolonged period of social distancing, quarantines, travel restrictions, work stoppages, health authority actions, 

lockdowns and other related measures within Australia and internationally, or an escalation of existing measures, may 

directly and indirectly impact the Company and the Project. For example, the virus may infect employees, contractors 

and suppliers of the Project, which may limit operations at the Project (or intends to operate) and could have an adverse 

effect on the Company’s financial position.   

 

More broadly, the Company and CDIs may be affected by the macroeconomic effects and ensuing financial volatility 

resulting from the pandemic. While the effects of the pandemic or other possible disease outbreaks are difficult to assess, 

it is possible that it will have a substantial negative effect on the economies in which the Company operates (or intends 

to operate) and could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial position.  

 

Changes in taxation laws and their interpretation  

 

Tax laws are subject to change periodically, as is their interpretation by the relevant courts and tax revenue authorities. 

Changes in tax law or changes in the way tax laws are interpreted may impact the level of tax that the Company is 

required to pay or collect, Shareholder returns, the level of dividend imputation or franking or the tax treatment of a 

Shareholder’s investment.   

 

In particular, both the level and basis of taxation may change. The tax information provided in this Prospectus is based 

on current taxation law in Australia as at the Prospectus Date. Tax law is frequently being changed, both prospectively 

and retrospectively. Further, the status of some key tax reforms remains unclear at this stage.  

 

Additionally, tax authorities may review the tax treatment of transactions entered into by the Company. Any actual or 

alleged failure to comply with, or any change in the application or interpretation of, tax rules applied in respect of such 

transactions, may increase the Company’s tax liabilities or expose it to legal, regulatory or other actions.  

 

Changes in Accounting Standards and their interpretation  

 

IFRS are determined by the IASB and are not within the control of the Company and its Directors. The IASB may, from 

time to time, introduce new or refined IFRS, which may affect the future measurement and recognition of key statement 

of profit or loss and statement of financial position items. There is also a risk that interpretations of existing IFRS, 

including those relating to the measurement and recognition of key statement of profit and loss and statement of financial 

position items may differ. Changes to IFRS or changes to the interpretation of those standards could materially adversely 

impact the reported financial performance and position of the Company.  

 

Force majeure events  

 

Events may occur within or outside Australia that could impact upon the global and Australian economies, the operations 

of the Norseman Gold Project and the price of the CDIs. These events include but are not limited to acts of terrorism, an 

outbreak of international hostilities, fires, floods, earthquakes, labour strikes, civil wars, natural disasters, outbreaks of 

disease or other man-made or natural events or occurrences that can have an adverse effect on operational continuity and 

the demand for precious metals (including gold). The Company has only a limited ability to insure against some of these 

risks. If any of these events occur, this may have a material adverse impact on the Norseman Gold Project. 

 

Native title 

 

The Company’s activities in Australia are subject to the Native Title Act and associated legislation relating to native title. 

There is significant uncertainty associated with native title issues in Australia and this may impact on the Company’s 

future plans. 

 

The existence of a native title claim is not an indication that that native title in fact exists on the land covered by the 

claim, as this is a matter ultimately determined by the Federal Court of Australia. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company (cont.) 

 

If a native title claim exists or is made, or native title rights are determined to exist over areas covered by the Company’s 

Tenements, the ability of the Company to gain access to the Tenements, or to progress from the exploration phase to the 

development and mining phases of operations, may be adversely affected. 

 

Determined native title holders may seek compensation under the Native Title Act for the impacts of acts affecting native 

title rights and interests. Western Australia has passed liability for compensation for the impact of the grant of mining 

tenements under the Mining Act onto mining tenement holders.   

 

Compensation liability may be determined by the Federal Court of Australia or be settled by agreement with native title 

holders, including through indigenous land use agreements and common law agreements. The Directors will closely 

monitor the potential effect of any native title claims involving the tenements in which the Company has or may have an 

interest.  

 

The Company is not aware of any native title compensation claims in relation to the Tenements. However, a number of 

the Tenements include standard endorsements and conditions noting that liability for native title compensation as a result 

of the grant of the relevant Tenement will lie with the lessee. There is limited guidance on the likely quantum of 

compensation that might be awarded to claimants in the event of a successful native title compensation claim. 

 

Aboriginal heritage laws may impede activities at the Norseman Gold Project  

 

Commonwealth and State legislation obliges the Company to identify and protect sites of significance to Aboriginal 

custom and tradition. Some sites of significance may be identified within areas covered by the tenements in which the 

Company has an interest. It is possible that one or more sites of significance will exist in an area that the Company 

considers to be prospective. 

There is a risk that exploration activities may be delayed, and costs incurred by the Company, in the event the Company 

is required enter into standard Aboriginal heritage agreements or undertake any heritage survey.  

 

Use of financial instruments 

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments. The financial risk management objectives and policies of the 

Group set out in Note 22 of the Financial Statements include the Group’s exposure to price, liquidity and credit risk. 

 

Environment, Health, Safety & Social Responsibility Policy Statement 

The Manager is responsible for implementing and overseeing all Environmental, Health Safety. (“EHS”) principles and 

policies in respect to the Norseman Gold Project 

 

The Manager has reported that the operations are subject to significant environmental regulations under the laws of 

Australia. These issues are dealt with by the Operations Director of the Manager. The Group is not aware of any matter 

that requires disclosure with respect to any significant environmental regulation in respect of its activities. 

 

By order of the board 

 

 

 

Kevin Maloney 

Chairman 

29 September 2021  
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The Manager of the Norseman Gold Project has reported to the Company in respect to the Joint Venture Activities 

undertaken during the financial year. 

About the Norseman Gold Project 

The Norseman Gold Project is located in the Eastern Goldfields of Western Australia, at the southern end of the highly 

productive Norseman-Wiluna greenstone belt. The project lies approximately 725 km east of Perth, 200 km south of 

Kalgoorlie, and 200 km north of Esperance. 

The project comprises 146 near-contiguous mining tenements, most of which are pre-1994 Mining Leases. The tenure 

extends approximately 70 lineal kilometres of the highly prospective Norseman– Wiluna greenstone belt covering 

approximately 800 square kilometres. 

Historically, the Norseman Gold Project areas have produced over 5.5 million ounces of gold since operations began in 

1935, and is one of, if not the highest grade fields within the Yilgarn Craton. 

The current Mineral Resource is 4.5 million ounces of gold (100% basis). Many of the Mineral Resources defined to date 

remain open along strike and at depth, and many of the Mineral Resources have only been tested to shallow depths. In 

addition, there are numerous anomalies and mineralisation occurrences which are yet to be tested adequately to be placed 

into Mineral Resources, with a number of highly prospective targets already identified by drilling. 

The Joint Venture has focused initial project planning on six initial mining areas containing multiple deposits which are 

amenable to both open pit and underground mining. A Phase One DFS was completed in October 2020 detailing an 

initial seven year mine plan with a centralised processing facility and combination of open pit and underground mining 

producing approximately 108,000 ounces per annum. A new one (1) million tonne per annum processing plant is to be 

constructed by GR Engineering following an extensive tendering process. 

Activities at the Norseman Gold Project in the first half of the year were primarily focussed on completion of infill and 

extensional drilling at the Phase 1 target locations, completion of the Definitive Feasibility Statement, and submission of 

approvals documentation. 

Following completion of the DFS, drilling has shifted to Phase 2 growth targets including Scotia extensions and the 

Mainfield. A drilling rate of approximately 150,000 metres per annum has been maintained throughout the period. 

Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) 

The DFS completed in October 2020 was focussed on mining centres which were drilled to a spacing suitable for 

estimation of Indicated Mineral Resources and calculation of Ore Reserves. Mining Centres included in the DFS include: 

• Gladstone-Everlasting (open pit) 

• Scotia (open pit and underground) 

• Cobbler (open pit) 

• Princess Royal (open pit) 

• Maybell (open pit), and 

• OK (underground) 

The results of the DFS were reported to the ASX by Pantoro (ASX:PNR) on 12 October 2020 in a release titled “DFS 

for Norseman Gold Project”. The DFS identified an Ore Reserve of 602,000 Oz to be mined and processed over an initial 

period of 7 years. At full production the mine is expected to produce approximately 108,000 ounces of gold per annum.  

Importantly, less than 30% of the Mineral Resources in place at the project were considered for the DFS, and in all cases 

except OK and Scotia, the deposits were only tested to depths suitable for open pit mining. 
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Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) (cont.) 

Key financial outcomes of the DFS included: 

• Project pre-tax net cashflow of A$260 million @ A$2,200/Oz and A$486 million @ A$2,600/Oz. 

• Average C1 operating cost of A$1,137 per ounce. 

• Average All in Sustaining Cost of A$1,292 per ounce. 

• Project IRR (pre-tax) of 50% at A$2,200 and 92% at $2,600. 

• NPV (5%) (pre-tax) $197 million at $2,200 and $384 million at $2,600. 

• Pre-Production capital of $89 million (TUL 50% share $44.5M). 

The DFS identified the requirement to demolish the existing processing plant. Demolition has been completed and 

preparations for construction of a new one (1) million tonne per annum CIL processing plant are well underway. 

Ongoing drilling program 

Following the completion of the DFS in October 2020, the Joint Venture continued its drilling program throughout the 

period utilising an average of five drill rigs and a combination of RC and diamond drilling. 

The primary focus of the project drilling was to continue to convert the current Mineral Resource base to Ore Reserve 

status in order to continue to extend the mine life and the production profile. Drilling since completion of the DFS has 

been focussed on the Scotia and Mainfield mining centres. 

Drilling at the Scotia Mining Centre has been focussed on infill and extension of the Green Lantern discovery and infill 

of the Scotia deeps orebodies to enable the estimation of an Indicated Mineral Resource and calculation of an Ore 

Reserve. It is expected that the program will result in substantial additional open pit and underground Ore Reserves in 

the near term. A maiden Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve for Green Lantern has been released (See Subsequent Events 

section at page 64). The aim of the joint venture is to sufficiently grow Ore Reserves to underwrite expansion of 

processing facilities to 1.5 million tonnes per annum for a sustained period in order to further improve project economics. 

Ongoing drilling program (cont.) 

Drilling at Mainfield has been undertaken along the entire 5km strike with excellent early results reported to the ASX on 

13 July 2021. Following from the first phase of drilling results, activities have been concentrated on the key areas of the 

Crown Reef, the Butterfly Reef and St Patricks Reef. Current activities are designed to adequately infill the areas of 

interest to enable additional Ore Reserve addition for the project. 

A large number of ASX releases concerning drilling results were released during the year. The title and date of each of 

the releases is listed below. All Norseman project drilling results referenced in this Annual Report are taken from these 

announcements made by Pantoro and/or the Company: 

• 21 July 2020 – Very High Grade Mineralisation Encountered on Lake Cowan (PNR) 

• 27 July 2020 – Panda Discovery Extended with Additional Drilling (PNR) 

• 29 July 2020 – Excellent Results from Maybell Mining Centre (PNR) 

• 20 August 2020 – New Ore Zone Discovered at Scotia Mining Centre (PNR) 

• 3 September 2020 – Ok Mine Drilling Program Complete with High Grade Results (PNR) 

• 29 October 2020 – Big Gold Hits at Green Lantern (PNR) 

• 23 November 2020 – Further High Grade Results from the Sailfish Prospect (PNR) 

• 22 March 2021 – Drilling Results at Scotia Mining Centre (TUL) 

• 10 May 2021 –High Grade Mineralisation at Scotia Mining Centre (TUL) 

• 24 May 2021 – Progress Report re Lord Percy Drilling Extends Maybell Mining Centre (TUL) 

• 31 May 2021 –Progress Report re High Grade Results confirm continuity at Sailfish (TUL) 

• 8 June 2021 – Progress Report re Third New Discovery at Scotia Mining Centre (TUL) 
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Exploration 

In addition to the resource development work completed during the year, the Joint Venture has continued with new 

exploration work in key areas with excellent success. The Green Lantern Deposit was discovered in August 2020 and 

approximately 35,000m of drilling has defined a large system over 800 metres of strike. A maiden Mineral Resource of 

6.8 M/t @ 1.4 g/t Au for 310,000 ounces and a maiden Ore Reserve of 2.65 M/t @ 1.3 g/t Au for 110,000 ounces @ a 

0.6 g/t Au cut-off grade was announced by the Company on 14 September 2021.  

The Joint Venture also drilled the Norganyer Sedimentary Iron Formation (SIF) at Scotia for the first time during the 

period following field mapping and sampling. The first drill program produced excellent results including: 

• 14m @ 12.84 g/t Au 

• 7m @ 3.35 g/t Au 

• 27m @ 1.89 g/t Au 

• 8m @ 2.27 g/t Au 

Subsequent to the initial drilling program in the SIF, the Joint Venture has flown ultra-close spaced magnetic surveys 

over the prospective units to aid in the design of subsequent drill programs. 

On Lake Cowan, the Joint Venture continued to advance the Sailfish deposit. Sailfish is characterised by typical 

Norseman style mineralisation with abundant visible gold in narrow quartz reef. Results received to date include: 

• 1.6 m @ 61.78 g/t Au from 98.5 m downhole inc. 0.33 m @ 234.14 g/t Au (including 0.4 m of core loss 

calculated at 0g/t Au). 

• 0.65 m @ 38.66 g/t Au from 88.9 m downhole. 

• 0.8 m @ 9.88 g/t Au from 93.0 m downhole. 

• 8.1 m @ 67.29 g/t Au from 78.6 m downhole inc. 0.7 m @ 521 g/t and 0.25 m @ 252 g/t Au (including 3.6 m 

of core loss calculated at 0g/t Au). 

• 3.5 m @ 2.56 g/t Au from 64 m downhole inc. 0.3 m @ 26.2 g/t Au (including 1.6 m of core loss calculated at 

0g/t Au). 

• 1.8 m @ 4.25 g/t Au inc 0.95 m @ 7.71 g/t Au from 171.45 m downhole. 

• 0.9 m @ 59.88 g/t Au from 81.1 m downhole. 

• 0.65 m @ 115.41 g/t Au from 96.05 m downhole. 

• 1.2 m @ 8.10 g/t Au from 73.4 m downhole. 

• 1.6 m @ 4.07 g/t Au from 83.0 m downhole. 

• 1.45 m @ 4.28 g/t Au from 131 m downhole. 

The Joint Venture is continuing to prioritise drilling at Sailfish according to drilling requirements within near term mining 

areas. 
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Compliance statements 

Norseman Project – Exploration Targets, Exploration Results 

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Targets and Exploration Results is based on information 

compiled by Mr Scott Huffadine (B.Sc. (Hons)), a Competent Person who is a Member of the Australian Institute of 

Geoscientists. Mr Huffadine is a Director and full-time employee of Pantoro Ltd, the parent entity of the Manager of the 

Norseman Gold Project. Mr Huffadine is eligible to participate in short- and long-term incentive plans of and holds shares 

and options in Pantoro Ltd. Mr Huffadine has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type 

of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 

2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr 

Huffadine consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which 

it appears. 

Norganyer Sedimentary Iron Formation (SIF) Drill Results 

The information is extracted from the report entitled ‘New Discovery at the Scotia Mining Centre’ created on 8 June 

2021 and is available to view on Tulla Resources’ website (www.tullaresources.com) and the ASX (www.asx.com.au). 

The company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included 

in the original market announcement. 

 

Lake Cowan Drilling Results 

The information is extracted from the reports entitled ‘Very High Grade Mineralisation Encountered on Lake Cowan’ 

dated 21 July 2020, ‘Further High Grade Results from the Sailfish Prospect’ dated 23 November 2020 (available to view 

on the website of the parent of the Manager of the Joint Venture (www.pantoro.com.au) and the ASX (www.asx.com.au)  

and ‘Progress Report re High Grade Results confirm continuity at Sailfish’ dated 31 May 2021 and available to view on 

Tulla Resources’ website (www.tullaresources.com) and the ASX (www.asx.com.au). The company confirms that it is 

not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in the original market 

announcements. The company confirms that the form and context in which the Competent Person’s findings are presented 

have not been materially modified from the original market announcements. 

 

Norseman Project – Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves 

The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves extracted from the report entitled ‘Annual 

Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement’ created on 27 September 2021and is available to view on Tulla Resources’ 

website (www.tullaresources.com) and the ASX (www.asx.com.au). The company confirms that it is not aware of any 

new information or data that materially affects the information included in the original market announcement and, in the 

case of estimates of Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves, that all material assumptions and technical parameters 

underpinning the estimates in the relevant market announcement continue to apply and have not materially changed. The 

company confirms that the form and context in which the Competent Person’s findings are presented have not been 

materially modified from the original market announcement. 

 

http://www.tullaresources.com/
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.asx.com.au&c=E,1,A8iVR2Td-B5MkEzZIyMsss_94k8lFdzFZrsOt5aEWmC4pVSwAIGD4boRaWCYl7hcz4aAZ2bBEJrso81d9hgD_CRNRnH31jT5WZrLp1MoAw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.pantoro.com.au&c=E,1,ZeBcpa5um9Z8GIn7OqmYwc2fF5gHLyhWDpSmZcWoqUfXjGpyARRRmPFlWUTHMf1Cn28lHMtA9lFUbhybj2JsWlsiFiAOutvc4HKLZw4AAHHCJbVCaHHtJg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.asx.com.au&c=E,1,Heqp1W_TUueb1RG2L39Da_u96wICZar5aHuWBeqrmjLTayHjSwlF7Jj4BVQtaxKjiJIJB8CqledYsGz7ibRDi3_JtAgZuskpNVo73oadVA,,&typo=1
http://www.tullaresources.com/
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.asx.com.au&c=E,1,Heqp1W_TUueb1RG2L39Da_u96wICZar5aHuWBeqrmjLTayHjSwlF7Jj4BVQtaxKjiJIJB8CqledYsGz7ibRDi3_JtAgZuskpNVo73oadVA,,&typo=1
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MINERAL RESOURCES & ORE RESERVES 

 

 

The Group holds 50% of the Norseman Gold Project. The updated Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves for the Norseman Gold Project was announced on 27 September 2021. The 

Mineral Resources have been rounded for reporting and are set out below. 

 

Norseman Gold Project Ore Reserves (1)  

  Proven Probable Total 

  Tonnes Grade Ounces Tonnes Grade Ounces Tonnes Grade Ounces 

OK  -     -     -     536,439   5.1   87,443   536,439   5.1   87,443  

Scotia  -     -     -     129,197   4.9   20,538   129,197   4.9   20,538  

St Pats  -     -     -     121,670   6.9   26,850   121,670   6.9   26,850  

Scotia  -     -     -     1,426,990   3.6   163,408   1,426,990   3.6   163,408  

Panda  -     -     -     14,258   5.7   2,613   14,258   5.7   2,613  

Maybell  -     -     -     524,540   2.4   40,468   524,540   2.4   40,468  

Green Lantern  -     -     -     2,646,081   1.3   110,693   2,646,081   1.3   110,693  

St Pats  -     -     -     145,851   3.8   17,862   145,851   3.8   17,862  

Slippers  -     -     -     155,256   2.6   13,146   155,256   2.6   13,146  

Slippers Paleo  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -    

Cobbler  -     -     -     973,660   1.7   54,093   973,660   1.7   54,093  

GE  -     -     -     743,842   3.0   72,263   743,842   3.0   72,263  

Daisy Sth  -     -     -     39,768   3.0   3,785   39,768   3.0   3,785  

Phoenix Tails  4,165,000   0.8   100,000   -     -     -     4,165,000   0.8   100,000  

TOTAL  4,165,000   0.8   100,000   7,457,553   2.6   613,161   11,622,553   1.9   713,161  

 

Norseman Gold Project Mineral Resources (1) 

 

Norseman Gold Project 

Measured Indicated Inferred Total 

T (Kt) Au (g/t) Ounces (kOz) T (Kt) Au (g/t) Ounces (kOz) T (Kt) Au (g/t) Ounces (kOz) T (Kt) Au (g/t) Ounces (kOz) 

Total Underground 267 14.4 124 2,048 13.6 895 2,883 10.7 988 5,196 12.0 2,010 

Total Surface South 140 2.3 10 11,541 2.0 737 12,910 2.7 1,132 24,591 2.4 1,886 

Total Surface North 4,165 0.7 100 4,207 2.0 276 3,325 2.5 264 11,684 1.7 639 

Total Resource Inventory 4,572 1.6 234 17,796 3.3 1,908 19,118 3.9 2,385 41,472 3.4 4,534 

(1) Stated on a 100% basis for the Norseman Gold Project. Tulla has a 50% ownership of the Norseman Gold Project 
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The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial report of Tulla Resources Plc (“the Group” or 

“the Company” or “Tulla Resources”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.  

 

The Company is a public Company registered in England and Wales. At the AGM on 30 December 2020, the 

shareholders resolved to change the name of the company from Norseman Gold Plc to Tulla Resources Plc. 

 

On 17 March 2021 Tulla Resources was admitted to the Official List of the ASX and commenced trading on 18 March 

2021 (ASX:TUL). 

 

Principal activity and significant events 

The Group’s principal activity was a 50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project.  The Norseman Gold Project is located 

adjacent to the Norseman township, approximately 725 kilometres east of Perth, Western Australia.   

 

Results and dividends 

The Group results for the year are set out in the Financial Statements. The Directors do not propose to recommend any 

dividends for the reporting year ended 30 June 2021. The Group made a loss after tax of AUD$1,604 for the year ended 

30 June 2021 (2020: profit after tax of AUD$111.1 million).  

 

The Group is currently in the development phase of the Norseman Gold Project with no production activities, however 

during the year ended 30 June 2020, the large profit after tax result of AUD$111.1 million was primarily attributable to: 

 

• the sale of 50% of the Group’s interest in the Norseman Gold Project resulting in the recognition of a profit on 

sale of assets of AUD$44.3 million; and 

• the interest waiver of AUD$77.0 million as a result of the restructure of the loans with Tulla Private as outlined 

on page 5.  

 

Group structure and changes in share capital 

Details of movements in share capital and changes to the Group’s structure during the year are set out in Notes 21 and 

13 respectively.  

 

Information to shareholders – website 

Information in relation to the Company including the Annual Report and all ASX Announcements can be accessed on 

the company’s website at www.tullaresources.com 

 

Pensions/Superannuation 

The Group contributes to superannuation schemes on behalf of its employees in accordance with Superannuation 

Guarantee legislation in Australia. 

 

Directors 

The Directors of the Company at any time during the financial year period were: 

 

Kevin Maloney      Executive Chairman 

Mark Maloney (appointed 18 February 2021)  Executive Director 

Arthur Michael Anglin (appointed 18 February 2021)  Non-Executive Director 

Andrew Greville (appointed 18 February 2021)       Non-Executive Director 

Frederick Kempson                          Non-Executive Director 

David Steinepreis (resigned 18 February 2021)       Non-Executive Director 

 

Stephen Maffey and Mark McIntosh were appointed as Company Secretaries on 28 September 2021 and 18 February 

2021, respectively. Ben Harber continues as Company Secretary. 

 

  

http://www.tullaresources.com/
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Directors’ interests 

The beneficial and non-beneficial interests in the Company’s shares and convertible loan notes of the current Directors 

and their families, were as follows: 

 

30 June 2021 

 

Ordinary shares  

of £0.022962 each 

Escrow shares  

of £0.022962 

each 

Total shares  

of £0.022962 

each  
     

Kevin Maloney  26,073,880 148,061,572 174,135,452  

Mark Maloney  26,027,770 144,421,952 170,449,722  

Arthur Michael Anglin 22,222 66,666 88,888  

Andrew Greville 200,000 66,666 266,666  

Frederick Kempson 15,000 55,555 70,555  

 

Notes: 

1. The beneficial and non-beneficial interests of Mr Kevin Maloney are held by Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd as 

trustee for the Tulla Resources Investment Trust, Tulla Partners Holdings Pty Ltd, Marley Holdings Pty Ltd as 

trustee for the Maloney Family Trust, Intrepic Investments Pty Ltd as trustee for Intrepic Investments Trust, 

Tulla Capital Partners Pty Ltd, and Rosebery Nominees Pty Ltd as trustee for the Maloney Superannuation Fund 

and Tulla Capital Partners Pty Ltd 

 

2. The beneficial and non-beneficial interests of Mr Mark Maloney are held by Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd as 

trustee for the Tulla Resources Investment Trust, Tulla Partners Holdings Pty Ltd, Intrepic Investments Pty Ltd 

as trustee for Intrepic Investments Trust, Tulla Capital Partners Pty Ltd, and Tulla Capital Partners Pty Ltd 

 

3. The beneficial and non-beneficial interests of Mr Andrew Greville and held directly by Mr Andrew Greville 

and Mrs Louise Greville as trustees for ALG Family Trust 

 

4. The beneficial and non-beneficial interests of Mr Fred Kempson are held directly by Kempson Capital Pty Ltd  

 

5. Details of the Group’s ordinary shares on issue subject to escrow arrangements are set out under section 7 – 

Restricted Securities on page 68. Mr Kevin Maloney and Mr Mark Maloney, via their interest in Tulla Resources 

Group Pty Ltd, hold 45,669,750 ordinary shares subject to voluntary escrow. All other escrowed shares are 

subject to ASX mandatory escrow until 18 March 2023 

 

Directors’ service contracts 

Kevin Maloney – executive 

Mr Maloney provides executive chairman services to the Company pursuant to a letter agreement dated 18 February 

2021. Under the terms of the letter agreement Mr Maloney is entitled to receive annual total fixed remuneration of 

AUD$150,000 plus superannuation. There are no incentive payments. Tulla Resources may terminate Mr Maloney’s 

employment on giving six (6) months’ notice and without notice in certain circumstances (i.e. theft, assault, fraud and 

serious misconduct). Mr.  Maloney can terminate his employment at any time on giving three (3) months’ notice. 

 

Mark Maloney – executive 

Mr Maloney provides executive director services to the Company pursuant to a letter agreement dated 18 February 2021, 

Under the terms of the letter agreement Mr Maloney is entitled to receive annual total fixed remuneration of 

AUD$120,000 plus superannuation. There are no incentive payments. Tulla Resources may terminate Mr Maloney’s 

employment on giving six (6) months’ notice and without notice in certain circumstances (i.e. theft, assault, fraud and 

serious misconduct). Mr Maloney can terminate his employment at any time on giving three (3) months’ notice 

 

David Steinepreis –non-executive 

Mr Steinepreis provided non-executive director services to the Company through a consultancy agreement with the 

Company.  Mr Steinepreis’ remuneration for the period up to his resignation on 18 February was AUD$9,000, which has 

been paid. 
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Directors’ service contracts (cont.) 

 

Fred Kempson – non-executive 

Mr Kempson provides non-executive director services to the Company through a consultancy agreement with the 

Company. Mr Kempson’s remuneration payable, commencing from 1 July 2020, was AUD$36,000 per annum. Upon 

the Listing the remuneration of Mr Kempson increased to AUD$60,000 plus superannuation per annum. 

 

Arthur Michael Anglin – non-executive 

Mr Anglin provides non-executive director services to the Company under a letter of appointment with the Company 

dated 16 February 2021. Mr Anglin’s remuneration payable, commencing from the date of appointment being 18 

February 2021, was AUD$65,700. Mr Anglin, as a non-Australian resident is not entitled to any superannuation. 

 

Andrew Greville– non-executive 

Mr Greville provides non-executive director services to the Company under a letter of appointment with the Company 

dated 16 February 2021. Mr Greville’s remuneration payable, commencing from the date of appointment being 18 

February 2021, was AUD$60,000 plus superannuation per annum. 

 

At the General Meeting of the Company on 9 March 2021, the shareholders resolved that the total amount payable to all 

non-executive directors for their services as directors must not exceed in the aggregate in any financial year of £250,000. 

 

Directors’ remuneration 

The remuneration paid or accrued to the Directors, in accordance with the service contracts which include payments 

made to entities associated with the Directors, during the year ended 30 June 2021, was as follows: 

 

 

     2021 2020 

     Total Total 

    AUD$ AUD$ 

Kevin Maloney    $53,773 - 

Mark Maloney    $43,018 - 

Arthur Michael Anglin    $24,050 - 

Andrew Greville    $24,050 - 

Frederick Kempson    $46,871 $39,000 

David Steinepreis (former Director)   $9,000 $36,000 

     __________ __________  

 

Totals     $200,762 $75,000 

     =========  =========  

 

The Company has entered into a deed of indemnity, insurance and access (Deed) with each Director which confirms the 

Director's rights of access to certain books and records of the Company and its related bodies corporate. Further, pursuant 

to the Deeds, the Company indemnifies each Director to the extent permitted under applicable English law (being the 

place of incorporation of the Company) against all losses and liabilities (including legal costs) incurred by the Director. 

The Deeds also provide that the Company must maintain such insurances against any liability incurred by the Director's 

(as permitted by law) in their capacity as directors, officers or employees of the Company (and any related bodies 

corporate) for a period of seven (7) years after the Director ceases to hold office. 

 

Political and charitable contributions 

The Group does not make political contributions. It has a policy of making social investments in its areas of operations 

where the investment is directly or indirectly related to its impact on or engagement with local communities. Charitable 

donations would not normally be a large component of such investment. 

 

Issue of share options and warrants 

The Company does not have an Employee share option agreement. There are no share options and warrants outstanding 

as at 30 June 2021.  
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Internal controls 

The Board is responsible for identifying and evaluating the major business risks faced by the Group and for determining 

and monitoring the appropriate course of action to manage these risks. The Board has established an Audit and Risk 

Committee comprising Fred Kempson (Chair), Andrew Greville and Michael Anglin. 

 

Statement of disclosure to the auditors 

So far as all of the current Directors are aware: 

a) there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and 

b) all the Directors have taken steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

 

Auditors 

UHY Hacker Young were appointed statutory auditors to the Company. In accordance with Section 489 of the Companies 

Act 2006, a resolution proposing that UHY Hacker Young be reappointed as auditors of the Company and that the 

Directors be authorised to determine their remuneration will be put to the next Annual General Meeting. 

 

Statement of directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and International 

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). UK Company Law requires the Directors to 

prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 

and of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.  In preparing those financial statements, the 

Directors are required to: 

 

a) select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

b) make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

c) state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 

and explained in the financial statements. 

d) prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 

will continue in business; 

The Directors confirm that the financial statements comply with the above requirements. 

 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 

the financial position of the Group and Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 

the UK Companies Act 2006.  The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for 

taking steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

 

 

By order of the board 

 

 

 

 

 

Kevin Maloney 

Chairman 

29 September 2021 
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Kevin Maloney, Executive Chairman, aged 74 

 

Kevin is founder and Chairman of Tulla Private, the Australian owned investment group of the Maloney family.  Based 

in Sydney, it was established in the early 1990s with an open mandate focusing on small to middle market listed 

companies, private equity, venture capital and debt.  Tulla Group has a track record of success from building and growing 

many businesses, including The MAC Services Group which is a mining services company that was listed on the ASX 

in April 2007 and sold to Oil States International in December 2010. 

 

Kevin has had an extensive experience in international and corporate banking, finance and the resources industry over 

his illustrious career. He is currently also Chairman of THEMAC Resources, a Canadian company listed on the Toronto 

Stock Exchange. He has also been a director and Chairman of ASX listed mining companies Queensland Mining 

Corporation Limited and Altona Mining Limited. 

 

Mark Maloney, Executive Director, aged 49 

 

Mark is the Managing Partner of Tulla Private, the Maloney family investment vehicle. He previously spent 15 years in 

investment markets holding senior positions with JP Morgan Chase & Co and Goldman Sachs Group Inc in Sydney and 

London. Mark was also CEO of The MAC Services. Mark is also on the Advisory Board of the UTS Business School. 

Arthur Michael Anglin, Non-Executive Director, aged 66 

Mike has over 40 years of experience in mining, having spent 22 years at BHP Billiton working in numerous countries 

before retiring in 2008. Mike has subsequently taken up various engagements in the industry and is currently Chairman 

of SSR Mining Inc and a non-executive director of Antofagasta Plc. 

 

Andrew Greville, Non-Executive Director, aged 58 

 

Andrew is a Mining Engineer with over 35 years’ experience in the resources industry, including senior roles in business 

development and strategy at Xstrata Queensland Limited, Pechiney World Trade (USA) Inc., BHP Billiton and Minera 

Escondida Ldta (Chile). Andrew is currently a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed companies Rimfire Pacific Mining 

NL and Aeon Metals Limited and an Independent Director of listed Nova Royalty Corporation (Toronto). 

 

Frederick Kempson, Non-Executive Director, aged 78 

 

Fred had a distinguished career in investment banking and was the Managing Director of two major investment banks 

(Australian International Finance Ltd and Security Pacific Ltd). He was also the Deputy Chairman of the Australian 

Merchant Bankers Association and a director of many public and private companies in Australia, the UK, USA, Hong 

Kong and New Zealand. Fred is currently a non-executive director of Brookmount Exploration Inc; AHA Retail Partners 

Plc and Livestock Asset Management Pty Ltd. 
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Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Tulla Resources Plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) for 

the year ended 30 June 2021 which comprise the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Company 

Statement of Changes in Equity, the Group and company Balance Sheet, the Group and Company Statement of Cash 

Flows and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies.  

 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International UK 

adopted Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 June 2021 and 

of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted IFRS; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the 

ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 

Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to note 1.2 of the Group financial statements which indicates that the Group will require additional 

funding in order to fully meet its budgeted operations, exploration and planned project development costs for the next 

year.  

 

The group has incurred an operating loss of loss after tax of AUD$1,604 for the year ended 30 June 2021 and does not 

anticipate recommencement of production until July 2022. If the group were unable to raise further funding via one of 

the means outlined in note 1.2 to the financial statements, including from the sale of Pantoro Limited shares, or debt or 

equity funding, then this would place doubt on the ability to preserve the current ownership interest in its assets and fund 

the business for 12 months. These events, along with the other matters explained in note 1.2 of the Group financial 

statements, constitute a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the Parent Company's 

ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

The financial statements do not include adjustments (such as impairment of assets) that would result if the Group were 

unable to continue as a going concern. 

  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director’s use of going concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  Our evaluation of the director’s assessment of the Group’s 

ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included an assessment of the risk and audit procedures 

to address this risk: 

 

The risk 

Due to the nature of the industry and the significant amount of capital needed in order to fund cash calls and operating 

costs, there are risks surrounding the going concern assumption. Whilst the Group had cash of AUD$50.0 million, 

financial assets of AUD$20.0 million and net assets of AUD$56.8 million at 30 June 2021,  the forecasts suggest that the 

Group will require further funding before the recommencement of production which is currently scheduled for July 2022.  

 

Given the above factors, we consider going concern to be a significant audit risk area. 
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The risk (cont.) 

The directors' conclusion of the risks and circumstances described in note 1.2 of the Group financial statements represent 

a material uncertainty over the ability of the Group and Company to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 

a year from the date of approval of the financial statements.  However, clear and full disclosure of the facts and the 

directors' rationale for the use of the going concern basis of preparation, including that there is a related material 

uncertainty, is a key financial statement disclosure and so was the focus of our audit in this area. Auditing standards 

require that to be reported as a key audit matter. 

 

How our audit addressed the risk:   

Our audit procedures included: 

 

• Assessing the transparency and the completeness and accuracy of the matters covered in the going concern 

disclosure by evaluating management's cash flow projections for the next 12 months and the underlying 

assumptions. 

• We obtained budgets and cash flow forecasts, reviewed the methodology behind these, ensured arithmetically 

correct and challenged the assumptions. 

• We completed sensitivity analysis on the budgets provided to assess the change costs that would need to occur 

to push the Group into a cash negative position. 

• We discussed plans for the Group going forward with management, ensuring these had been incorporated into 

the budgeting and would not have an impact on the going concern status of the Group. 

 

Key observations:  

The Group will need additional funding in order to fully meet its budgeted operations, exploration and planned project 

development costs for the next year.  

  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 

sections of this report.   

 

Our approach to the audit 

We designed our audit by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, and assessing the risk of material 

misstatement in the financial statements. When assessing the risk of material misstatement, we consider whether the 

directors made judgments or assumptions that are, by their nature, subjective. The scope of our audit was influenced by 

the level of materiality we determined. 

 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial 

statements as a whole, taking into account an understanding of their activities, the accounting processes and controls, 

and the industry in which they operate. Our planned audit testing was directed accordingly and was focused on areas 

where we assessed there to be the highest risk of material misstatement. 

 

During the audit we reassessed and re-evaluated audit risks and tailored our approach accordingly. 

 

The audit testing included substantive testing on significant transactions, balances and disclosures, the extent of which 

was based on various factors such as our overall assessment of the control environment, the effectiveness of controls and 

the management of specific risk. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during the 

audit. 

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 

(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 

the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.  

 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks 

identified during our audit. Going concern is a significant key audit matter and is described above. In arriving at our audit 

opinion above, the other key audit matter includes: 
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1. Accounting treatment of 50% interest in 

the Central Norseman Gold Project 

2. This is the first year in which Group has 

contributed to the joint venture arrangement 

following completion of the Sole Funding 

Period. 

3. This is considered a key audit matter due to 

judgements required when assessing the 

correct treatment of the arrangement in 

accordance with IFRS 11. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 

 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology 

applied by the management including a review of 

relevant clauses of the joint venture agreement; 

• Challenged managements judgements in arriving at the 

conclusion to treat it as a joint operation; 

• Considering the terms of the arrangement with 

reference to IFRS 11 and relevant industry guidance 

and ensuring the appropriateness of the accounting 

policy 

• Ensuring that appropriate disclosures are provided in 

the financial statements in respect of joint operation 

under IFRS 11. 

Key observations:  

4. Based on the work performed, the 50% joint venture with 

Pantoro Limited is considered to meet the definition of a joint 

operation whereby 50% share of all assets and liabilities of the 

Norseman Project should be included in the financial results of 

Tulla Resources Plc. 

5. Rehabilitation provision 

6. The group has a provision of AUD$14.2m 

(2020: AUD$20.6m) in respect of the 

rehabilitation costs to bring the site back to 

its original condition. The value of the 

provision, judgements, assumptions and 

estimates involved in calculating the 

provision makes it a key audit matter. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 

 

• Assessing the competence and independence of 

consultants involved in calculating the provision; 

• Reviewing and challenging the assumptions used by 

consultants; 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology 

applied by comparing it to the Group’s accounting 

policy and IAS 37; 

Key observations:  

7. The group has 50% interest in the Norseman Project and 

therefore, the total provision is split between Tulla Resources 

Plc and Pantoro Limited (the Manager and JV (Joint Venture) 

partner).  

8. During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Manager engaged the 

services of an external consultant to update the Mine Closure 

Plan for submission to Department of Mines, Industry 

Regulations and Safety (DMIRS) in accordance with its licence 

requirements. The detailed review was the first review 

undertaken since 2017 and considered the impact, on the closure 

requirements for the site, of the new mine plan outlined in the 

DFS. This included a reclassification of the significant tailings 

dams on the Norseman Gold Project into low grade stockpiles to 

be processed through the new processing plant to be built. This 

reclassification resulted in a material reduction in the estimated 

rehabilitation liability reported to DMIRS in the Mine Closure 

Plan, with the consequential impact on the financial statements 

being a material reduction in the liability and a credit to the 

income statement. 
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9. Carrying value of non-current assets 

The Group has capitalised costs under non-

current assets comprising property, plant 

and equipment, mine properties and 

development costs and exploration and 

evaluation totaling AUD$4.2m.  These are 

required to be assessed for indicators of 

impairment in accordance with the Group’s 

accounting policies at each reporting date 

and with the relative accounting standards 

IFRS 6 and IAS 36. International financial 

reporting standards and the Group’s 

accounting policy require the Group assess, 

throughout the reporting period, whether 

there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, the 

Group is required to estimate the 

recoverable amount of the assets.  

 

We therefore identified carrying value of 

non-current assets as a key audit matter, 

which was one of the significant assessed 

risk of material misstatement. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 

 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology 

applied by management in their assessment of the 

carrying value of non-current assets;  

• Challenging the assumptions used in the Definitive 

Feasibility Study (DFS) and the independence and 

competence of the parties involved; 

• Comparing the gold prices used in the DFS model with 

the current gold prices for any indicators of 

impairment; 

• Review of resource estimates for evidence of changes 

in reserve and resource quantities which may evidence 

changes in the recoverable amount; 

• Reviewing the board minutes of the company and any 

associated papers to ensure no matters arising from the 

minutes which would cast doubt on the feasibility of the 

Norseman project;  

• Assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 

included in the financial statements in accordance with 

the accounting standards. 

Key observations:  

A DFS was published in October 2020 which indicated a post-

tax NPV of the current project to be AUD$260m. Subsequently, 

in September 2021, the group released an updated reserves 

report including additional reserves of 110,000 ounces. Based on 

the above factors, we believe that there are no indicators of 

impairment and the carrying amount of non-current assets 

disclosed in the financial statements is appropriate.   
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Valuation and recoverability of loans 

receivable from subsidiaries and expected 

credit losses under IFRS 9 

The parent company has lent significant 

funds totaling AUD$174.5m to Central 

Norseman Gold Corporation (CNGC, a 

subsidiary), in prior years. These loans were 

fully impaired in 2017.  The restructuring of 

debt and JV transaction as mentioned in 

note 13 and 20 of the financial statements 

has resulted in value being attributable to 

the CNGC loan following the completion of 

the Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) 

report in October 2020 which has led to a 

significant reversal of this impairment. 

Management’s assessment for 

recoverability of the loan and calculation of 

expected credit losses involves significant 

judgements and assumptions, such as 

probability of default, loss given default, 

extent and probability of future cash flows.  

There is a risk that the subsidiary company 

may default on loan repayments and 

therefore the loan may be impaired in 

excess of the current expected credit losses. 

The value of the loan makes it a key audit 

matter as there is a significant risk of default 

on the loan repayments. 

 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 

 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology 

applied by management in their assessment of the 

recoverable amount by recalculating the expected 

credit losses in line with IFRS 9 and comparing it to the 

accounting policy; 

• Challenging the assumptions used in the DFS and the 

independence and competence of the parties involved; 

• Review of resource estimates for evidence of changes 

in reserve and resource quantities which may evidence 

changes in the recoverable amount; 

• Checking that intercompany loans have been 

reconciled and obtaining a balance confirmation; 

• Reviewing the board minutes of the company and any 

associated papers to ensure no matters arising from the 

minutes which would cast doubt on the recoverability 

of the loan balances.  

Key observations:  

The loan to CNGC has been impaired in prior years. The 

restructuring of the debt and the JV transaction resulted in value 

being attributable to CNGC. Therefore, the current year 

expected credit loss assessment resulted in a reversal of 

previously recognised impairment losses by AUD$51m.  

The amount AUD$128.7m is now considered to be recoverable 

based on underlying value of the Gold to be recovered. The 

provision for impairment on this loan totals AUD$45.8m which 

has been recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 and is calculated 

based on lifetime expected credit losses. 

We believe that the loan receivable amount is materially correct 

and comply with the Group’s accounting policies. 
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Our application of materiality 

The scope and focus of our audit was influenced by our assessment and application of materiality. We apply the concept 

of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements on our audit and 

on the financial statements.  

 

We define financial statement materiality as the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions taken on the basis of the financial statements by reasonable 

users.  

 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower 

materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below 

these levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified 

misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial 

statements as a whole. 

 

We determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

 

 

Materiality Measure Group Parent 

Overall materiality We determined materiality for the financial statements to be: 

2021: AUD$568,000 (2020: 

AUD$769,000) 

2021: AUD$454,000 (2020: 

AUD$615,000) 

How we determine it 
Based on the main key indicator, being 

1% of net assets of the Group.  

 

1% of net assets of the Parent Company 

exceeded the Group materiality amount 

therefore this was capped at 80% of 

Group materiality. 

 

Rationale for 

benchmarks applied 

We believe the net assets are the most appropriate benchmark due to the size and 

stage of development of the Company and Group and due to the Group not yet 

generating any material revenue. 

Performance materiality 
On the basis of our risk assessment, together with our assessment of the Group and 

Company’s control environment, our judgement is that performance materiality for 

the financial statements should be 75% of materiality for the Company and 50% for 

the Group since the risk related to the Group is deemed to be higher than at the 

Company level. The parent performance materiality was however capped at group 

level. 

2021: AUD$284,000 (2020: 

AUD$384,000) 

2021: AUD$284,000 (2020: 

AUD$384,000) 

Reporting threshold 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all misstatements 

over 5% of Group and company materiality identified during the audit as set out 

below, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting 

on qualitative grounds.  We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters 

that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

2021: AUD$28,000 (2020: $38,000) 2021: AUD$22,000 (2020: 

AUD$30,000) 
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Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and 

our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.   

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 

stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 

whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves.  

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact.  

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and its environment obtained in the 

course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report. 

 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us 

to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have 

not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 23, the directors are responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for internal 

controls as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  

 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 

(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

 

  



32 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF TULLA RESOURCES PLC 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont.) 

Based on our understanding of the Group and the Company and the industry in which it operates, we identified that the 

principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the acts by the Company which were contrary to 

applicable laws and regulations including fraud and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a 

material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on 

the preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and 

opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls). 

Audit procedures performed included: review of the financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting 

documentation, enquiries of management and in so far as they related to the financial statements, and testing of journals 

and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due 

to fraud. 

We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements, and 

determined that the principal risks were related to the accounting treatment of the 50% interest in the Norseman Project, 

rehabilitation provision, the valuation and recoverability of loans receivable and expected credit losses under IFRS 9 and 

management assessment of going concern. Audit procedures performed related to these matters are discussed in the key 

audit matter section of the auditor’s report. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with 

laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would 

become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 

detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 

misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 

Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Other matters which we are required to address 

We were reappointed by Tulla Resources Plc on 30 July 2021. 

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group and we remain 

independent of the Group in conducting our audit. 

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Board of Directors. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with part 3 of Chapter 16 of the 

Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 

by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a 

body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

James Astley (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of UHY Hacker Young 

Chartered Accountants 

Statutory Auditor 

London, United Kingdom 

Date: 29 September 2021 

Quadrant House 

4 Thomas More Square 

London E1W 1YW 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Notes 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 AUD$ 

 

Continuing operations     

Group revenue 2  217,047 - 

     

Cost of sales – direct costs   (43,083) -  

     

     

Gross profit   173,964 - 

     

Other operating income     

Profit on sale of assets 3  1,240,039 44,325,265 

Other operating income 5  354,083 383,291 

     

Administrative expenses before     

  depreciation, exploration expenditure     

  write off, rehabilitation costs write 

  back and impairments 

  (3,281,248) (1,481,698) 

Exploration expenditure write off 11  (126) - 

Rehabilitation costs – provision 19  6,054,358 (174,413) 

Depreciation and impairment of property, 

plant & equipment 

 

10 

  

(6,364) 

 

- 

     

     

Group operating profit 4  4,534,706 43,052,445  

     

Unwind discount on deferred consideration 6  950,226 1,335,046 

Interest waiver 6  - 76,985,125 

Interest received   999 124 

Interest payable 6  (4,467,535) (10,319,796) 

Fair value adjustment on equity investment 14  (1,020,000) 

___________ 

- 

___________ 

     

(Loss) / profit before taxation   (1,604) 111,052,944  

     

Taxation 7  - 

___________ 

- 

___________ 

     

(Loss) / profit for the year   (1,604) 111,052,944  

     

Other comprehensive income   - 

___________ 

- 

___________ 

Total comprehensive (loss) / profit 

attributable to equity holders of the 

Company  

   

(1,604) 

 

111,052,944  

   ========== ========== 
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 Notes Share 

Capital  

AUD$ 

Share 

Premium 

AUD$ 

Retained 

Losses 

AUD$ 

Total  

Equity 

AUD$ 

      

Year ended 30 June 2021      

      

Balance at 1 July 2020  27,948,180 143,086,801 (248,010,277) (76,975,296) 

  _________ _________ _________ _________ 

      

Net loss for 2021  - - (1,604) (1,604) 

  _________ _________ __________ __________ 

      

Total comprehensive 

loss for the period 

 - - (1,604) (1,604) 

  _________ _________ ___________ __________ 

      

New Shares Issued during 2021 21 6,266,521 131,279,280 - 137,545,801 

      

Share Issue Costs during 2021 21 - (3,728,310) - (3,728,310) 

      

Cancel Deferred Shares in 2021 21 (22,877,922) 22,877,922 - - 

  _________ _________ __________ __________ 

      

      

Balance at 30 June 2021  11,336,779 293,515,693 (248,011,881) (56,840,591) 

  ========  ======== ==========  ========== 

 

  Share 

Capital  

AUD$ 

Share 

Premium 

AUD$ 

Retained 

Losses 

AUD$ 

Total  

Equity 

AUD$ 

      

Year ended 30 June 2020      

      

Balance at 1 July 2019  22,948,180 143,086,801 (359,063,221) (193,028,240) 

  _________ _________ _________ _________ 

      

Net profit for 2020  - - 111,052,944 111,052,944 

  _________ _________ __________ _________ 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 

  

- 

 

- 

 

111,052,944 

 

111,052,944 

  _________ _________ _________ _________ 

      

New Shares Issued during 2020  5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 

  _________ _________ _________ _________ 

Balance at 30 June 2020  27,948,180 143,086,801 (248,010,277) (76,975,296) 

  ========  ======== ==========  ========== 
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 Notes Share 

Capital  

AUD$ 

Share 

Premium 

AUD$ 

Retained 

Losses 

AUD$ 

Total  

Equity 

AUD$ 

      

Year ended 30 June 2021      

      

Balance at 1 July 2020  27,948,180 143,086,801 (157,477,835) 13,557,146 

      

Net profit for 2021  - - 48,833,787 48,833,787 

  _________ _________ _________ __________ 

Total comprehensive 

loss for the period 

  

- 

 

- 

 

48,833,787 

 

48,833,787 

  _________ _________ ___________ _________ 

      

New Shares Issued during 2021 21 6,266,521 131,279,280 - 137,545,801 

      

Share Issue Costs during 2021 21 - (3,728,310) - (3,728,310) 

      

Cancel Deferred Shares in 2021 21 (22,877,922) 22,877,922 - - 

  _________ _________ _________ __________ 

      

Balance at 30 June 2021  11,336,779 293,515,693 (108,644,048) 196,208,424 

  =======  ======= =======  ======= 

 

Year ended 30 June 2020       

      

Balance at 1 July 2019  22,948,180 143,086,801 (185,188,449) (19,153,468) 

      

      

Net profit for 2020  - - 27,710,614 27,710,614 

  _________ _________ _________ __________ 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 

  

- 

 

- 

 

27,710,614 

 

27,710,614 

  _________ _________ ___________ _________ 

      

New Shares Issued during 2020  5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 

  _________ _________ ___________ _________ 

Balance at 30 June 2020  27,948,180 143,086,801 (157,477,835) 13,557,146 

  =======  ======= =======  ======= 
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 Notes   30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

 30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

 

ASSETS     

Non-Current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment 10  715,773 31,818 

Exploration and evaluation assets 11  2,854,011 - 

Mine properties and development costs 12  650,582 - 

Trade and other receivables 15  - 9,049,774 

   ___________ ___________ 

   4,220,366 9,081,592 

   ___________ ___________ 

Current Assets     

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 14  20,000,000 - 

Trade and other receivables 15  592,520 5,294,987 

Inventories 16  235,688 - 

Cash and cash equivalents 17  50,031,092 63,312 

   ___________ ___________ 

   70,859,300 5,358,299 

   ___________ ___________ 

Total Assets   75,079,666 14,439,891 

   ___________ ___________ 

LIABILITIES     

Current Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 18  3,883,616 6,669,942 

Provisions for liabilities 19  93,308 - 

Loans and borrowings 20  - 1,912,392 

   ___________ ___________ 

   3,976,924 8,582,334 

   ___________ ___________ 

Non-Current Liabilities     

Provisions for liabilities 19  14,262,151 20,686,630 

Loans and borrowings 20  - 62,146,223 

   ___________ ___________ 

   14,262,151 82,832,853 

   ___________ ___________ 

Total Liabilities   18,239,075 91,415,187 

   ___________ ___________ 

Net assets / (Net liabilities)   56,840,591 (76,975,296)  

   ========== ========== 

EQUITY     

Capital and Reserves     

Share capital 21  11,336,779 27,948,180 

Share premium  21  293,515,693 143,086,801 

Retained losses   (248,011,881) (248,010,277) 

   ___________ ___________ 

Shareholders’ Equity   56,840,591 (76,975,296)  

   ========== ========== 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2021 and signed on its behalf by:  

 

 

 

 

Kevin Maloney 

Chairman 

Company Registration number 05380466 

Type text here
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

  

Notes 

  30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

 30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

     

ASSETS     

Non-Current Assets     

Loan to subsidiary undertakings 13  128,711,581 13,810,948 

Investment in subsidiary undertakings 13  - - 

    ____________ ____________ 

   128,711,581 13,810,948 

   ____________ ____________ 

Current Assets     

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 14  20,000,000 - 

Trade and other receivables 15  2,034,487 2,861,742 

Cash and cash equivalents 17  45,574,766 91 

   ____________ ____________ 

   67,609,253 2,861,833 

   ____________ ____________ 

Total Assets   196,320,834 16,672,781 

   ____________ ____________ 

LIABILITIES     

Current Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 18  112,410 1,421,435 

Loans and borrowings  20  - 1,694,200 

   ____________ ____________ 

   112,410 3,115,635 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Total Liabilities   112,410 3,115,635 

   ____________ ____________ 

Net Assets   196,208,424 13,557,146 

   ========== ========== 

     

EQUITY     

Capital and Reserves     

Share capital 21  11,336,779 27,948,180 

Share premium  21  293,515,693 143,086,801 

Retained losses   (108,644,048) (157,477,835) 

   ____________ ____________ 

Shareholders’ Equity   196,208,424 13,557,146 

   ========== ========== 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2021 and signed on its behalf by:  

 

 

 

 

Kevin Maloney 

Chairman 

 

Company Registration number 05380466 
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

  

Notes 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 AUD$ 

 

     

Net outflow from operating activities 25  (3,979,711) (1,094,077) 

   ____________ ____________ 

Investing activities     

Proceeds from sale of assets   5,040,039 7,512,500 

Direct costs from sale of assets   - (2,163,000) 

Funds used in exploration expenditure 11  (2,854,137) - 

Funds used in mine properties and development 12  (650,582) - 

Purchases of plant & equipment 10  (690,319) (31,818) 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Net cash generated from investing activities   845,001 5,317,682 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Financing activities     

Cash proceeds from related party financing 20  845,000 2,706,000 

Loan repayments to related party 20  (22,314,200) (6,920,500) 

Cash proceeds from issue of shares 21  78,300,000 - 

Transaction costs on issue of shares 21  (3,728,310) - 

   ____________ ____________ 

 

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing 

activities 

   

53,102,490 

 

(4,214,500) 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   49,967,780 9,105 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   63,312 54,207 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   50,031,092 63,312 

   =========== =========== 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
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Notes 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 AUD$ 

     

Net cash outflow from operating activities 25  (1,657,101) (1,440,551) 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Investing activities     

Loan granted to subsidiaries 13  (28,587,218) (1,880)  

Loan repayments to related parties 13  (1,664,200) (10,000,000) 

Loan repayments from subsidiaries   2,911,504 6,442,400 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Net cash used in investing activities   (27,339,914) (3,559,480) 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Financing activities     

Cash proceeds from issue of shares 21  78,300,000 5,000,000 

Transaction costs on issue of shares 21  (3,728,310) - 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Net cash from financing activities   74,571,690 5,000,000 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

     

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   45,574,675 (31) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   91 122 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   45,574,766 91 

   =========== =========== 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

1. Accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated below. 

 

1.1 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention and in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”), 

including IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’, IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ and in 

accordance with the Companies Act 2006. The Parent Company’s financial statements have also been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS and the Companies Act 2006.  

 

1.2 Going concern 

The Group made an operating profit of AUD$4.5 million and a net loss of AUD$1,604 for the year, which 

follows an operating profit of AUD$43.1 million and net profit of AUD$111.1 million for the previous financial 

year ended 30 June 2020.   

 

The Group had cash of AUD$50.0 million, financial assets at fair value through profit and loss of AUD$20.0 

million and net assets of AUD$56.8 million at 30 June 2021.  

 

 As stated above, on listing on the ASX, the Company raised AUD$78.3 million from the cash proceeds of the 

Offer for the purposes of the Offer costs, repaying the Tulla Private debt (AUD$20 million cash) and to fund its 

50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project. 

 

The New Financing Agreement (AUD$60 million facility) approved by shareholders at the Company General 

Meeting on 31 December 2019, in respect of outstanding monies owed to Tulla Private, was terminated and the 

security released on the terms of the Debt Consolidation Agreement on the Admission of Tulla Resources to the 

ASX (see above). 

 

In ongoing funding of its 50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project prior to a positive cash flow from the 

recommencement of production scheduled for the financial year commencing 1 July 2022 the Group has a 

number of options available to it: 

 

• Sale of part of all of the Company’s 100 million shares in Pantoro with a market value of AUD$20.0 

million as at 30 June 2021; 

 

• Exploring potential transactions for the development and operations of the Company’s Industrial 

Mineral rights in accordance with the FJVA and other minerals that form part of the Joint Venture, to 

generate cash flow; 

 

• Raising of capital (debt or equity) to meet its future Joint Venture funding obligations; 

 

• Sale of part or all of its interest in the Joint Venture to its joint venture partner or a third party; 

 

• The FJVA provides the Group the option to progressively dilute its interest in the Joint Venture if 

unable to meet future funding calls to the Joint Venture. 

 

The Group is currently exploring all options available to it in order to ensure the Group is a going concern and 

to maximise the value to the Group’s shareholders and is in advanced negotiations with a major financier for 

project financing. 

 

The Group may need to source additional funds to fund any future cash calls to retain its current interest in its 

investments at their current level. 

 

The Directors are confident that the Company will be successful in raising additional funds through one of the 

means identified above, should the need arise. However, factors beyond the Company’s control, including 

pandemic diseases such as Covid-19 (coronavirus), which affects the debt and equity markets, may in turn have 

a negative impact on any fund raising. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

1.2 Going concern (cont.) 

 

Based on these facts, the Directors consider the going concern basis of preparation to be appropriate for this 

financial report. Should the Company be unsuccessful in raising additional funds through one of the means 

identified above, it may be forced to dispose of part or all of its interest in the Norseman Gold Project, or dilute 

its interest in the Norseman Gold Project in accordance with the dilution provisions in the FJVA. In the event 

that the Company is unable to source additional funds to meet its costs outside of the Norseman Gold Project, 

most of which are discretionary, save for the costs of compliance, there is a material uncertainty which may cast 

doubt whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore, whether it will realise the 

full potential value of its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business.   

 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relative to the recoverability and classification of 

recorded asset amounts or, to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the 

Group not continue as a going concern. 

 

1.3 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries and have 

been prepared by using the principles of acquisition accounting (“the purchase method”) which includes the 

results of the subsidiaries from their date of acquisition.   

 

The Company controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with 

the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary.  All subsidiaries 

have a reporting date of 30 June. 

 

Intra-group sales, profits and balances are eliminated fully on consolidation. 

 

1.4 Income taxation 

Income tax expense recognised in the profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 

recognised in other comprehensive or directly in equity. 

 

Deferred income taxes are provided in full, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred 

income taxes are determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted and are expected to 

apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the related deferred income tax liability is settled.  

 

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation or amortisation charged on assets and tax losses 

carried forward.  Deferred tax assets relating to the carry forward of unused tax losses are recognised to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be 

utilised.  Tulla Resources Plc and its wholly owned subsidiaries have implemented Australian tax consolidation 

legislation.  The head entity, Tulla Resources Plc and the subsidiaries in the tax consolidation group account for 

their own current and deferred tax amounts.  These amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 

consolidation group continues to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right.  

 

1.5 Mine properties in production phase and exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable 

area of interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through 

the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits 

reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. Accumulated costs in relation to 

an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is 

made. When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over 

the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. Economically 

recoverable reserves are determined by the following: For open pit operations – proven and probable reserves; 

and for underground operations – proven and probable reserves and reasonably assured potential additional 

reserves. Accumulated costs associated with underground operations include an estimate of the future costs 

associated with the conversion of ‘indicated’ and ‘inferred’ resources into the ‘measured’ category. This 

estimate is based on the historical cost per ounce discovered. A regular review is undertaken of each area of 

interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.  
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1.5 Mine properties in production phase and exploration and evaluation expenditure (cont.) 

 

 Provision for rehabilitation 

Costs of site restoration are provided when an obligating event occurs from when exploration commences and 

are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining 

plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with 

clauses of the mining permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal 

requirements and technology on a discounted basis. Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted 

for on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature 

and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future legislation. Accordingly, the costs 

have been determined on the basis that the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the 

site.  

 

 Joint Operations 

 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. In accordance with the terms 

of the FJVA, all Joint Venture Property is owned by the JV Parties severally as tenants in common in 

proportion to their respective Joint Venture Interest, and each JV Party is severally liable, in proportion to 

their JV interest, for all obligations and liabilities incurred by or on behalf of the JV Parties. Accordingly, the 

Group recognises its share of jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the Norseman Gold 

Project under the appropriate classification.  

 

In accordance with industry guidance, in accounting for the farm-in and joint venture agreement, the Group 

only recognised cash payments (up front and deferred), the fair value of shares received, and the value of 

liabilities assumed by the farmee. The Group did not recognise any consideration with respect to the value of 

the work to be performed by the farmee and instead, carry the remaining interest at the previous cost of the 

full interest, reduced by the amount of consideration recognised. The effect being that there is no gain 

recognised on the disposal unless the consideration recognised exceeds the carrying value of the entire asset 

held.  
 

1.6 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Recognition and measurement 

 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less, where applicable, any accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the items. 

 

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 

attributable to bringing asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and 

removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the 

functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of the equipment. 

 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

 

Subsequent costs 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are 

incurred. 
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1.6 Property, plant and equipment (cont.) 

 

Depreciation 

 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset Major depreciation 

periods are: 

 

• Mine Specific plant and equipment is depreciated using the shorter of life of mine and useful life. 

Useful life ranges between 1 and 10 years. 

 

• Buildings are depreciated using shorter of life of mine and useful life.  Useful life ranges between 3 

and 10 years. 

 

• Office plant and equipment is depreciated over useful lives ranging between 1 and 10 years. 

 

The useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

 

Capital work in progress is not depreciated until it is ready for use. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included 

in the profit or loss. 

 

1.7 Inventories 

 (i) Gold Bullion 

 Gold bullion on hand is carried at net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the value anticipated to be realised 

based on the average gold price achieved for sales carried out in the current month. 

 

(ii) Raw Materials and Stores 

Inventories of raw materials and stores expected to be used in production are valued at average cost. Obsolete 

or damaged inventories of such items are valued at net realisable value.  There is a regular and ongoing review 

of inventories for surplus items and provision is made for any anticipated loss on their disposal. 

 

(iii) Work in Progress and Gold in Circuit 

Inventories of broken ore, work in progress and gold in circuit are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value.  Cost comprises direct material, labour and transportation expenditure incurred in getting inventories to 

their existing location and condition, together with an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead 

expenditure based on weighted average costs incurred during the period in which such inventories were 

produced.  Net realisable value is the amount anticipated to be realised from the sale of inventory in the normal 

course of business less any anticipated costs to be incurred prior to its sale.  

 

1.8 Employee benefits 

The Group did not have any employees at 30 June 2020, accordingly no employee benefits remained owing at 

year end. Notwithstanding this, the accounting policy provides for the provision to be made for the liability for 

employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the balance sheet date. Employee benefits 

expected to be settled within one year together with entitlements arising from wages and salaries, annual leave 

and sick leave, which will be settled after one year, have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid 

when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Other employee benefits payable later than one year have 

been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. 

 

1.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost and comprise cash in hand, cash at bank, 

deposits held at call with banks, cash in transit between banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments 

with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current 

liabilities on the balance sheet. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents also 

include the bank overdrafts.   
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1.10 Provisions for liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 

for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and that outflow can be reliably 

measured. Clauses 1.5 and 1.16 refer to the accounting policies adopted in relation to the provision for future 

rehabilitation liabilities associated with mine properties. 

 

1.11 Financial Instruments 

 

Financial Assets - initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, at fair value.  Such assets are subsequently measured at 

either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on both 

the business model within which such assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial asset unless an accounting mismatch is being avoided. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments); 

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments); 

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses 

upon derecognition (equity instruments); or 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order 

to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 

or impaired. 

 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured 

at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of the loss allowance 

depends upon the Group’s assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument's 

credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information 

that is available, without undue cost or effort to obtain. 

 

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month 

expected credit loss allowance is estimated. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is 

determined that credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset's lifetime expected 

credit losses.  

 

Financial Liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate. 
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1.11 Financial Instruments (cont.) 

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 

net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables and secured and unsecured loans from directors and other 

parties. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial Liabilities at amortised cost 

 

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, trade payables and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost.   Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 

premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 

as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 

the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 

levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows 

from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that 

suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

1.12 Investments 

Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment in the Company’s balance 

sheet. 

 

1.13 Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 (i) Functional and presentational currency 

Items included in the Group’s financial statements are measured using Australian Dollars (“AUD$”), which is 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (“the functional currency”).  

The financial statements are also presented in AUD$ which is the Group’s presentation currency. The exchange 

rate at 30 June 2021 was £1 = $1.84 (2020: £1 = $1.79). 

 

The individual financial statements of each Group company, including the parent company, are measured and 

presented in AUD$.  

 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

 

Transactions in the accounts of individual Group companies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling on the 

date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 

rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  All differences are taken to the income statement. 
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1.14 Leases 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore comparative 

information has not been restated and is presented under IAS 17. The Group does not have any leases under 

IFRS 16 at 30 June 2021. The details of accounting policies under both IAS 17 and IFRS 16 are presented 

separately below. 

 

Policy applicable from 1 July 2019 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises 

a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the 

lessee. 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 

the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the balance sheet. 

 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 

liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 

made. 

 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 

asset) whenever: 

 

• The lease term has changed in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 

lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under 

a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 

lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change 

in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

• A lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in 

which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting 

the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. 

 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, prepayments made 

on the lease at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. 

They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. 

 

The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2019 

Operating leases 

 

Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are not transferred to the Group (an 

“operating lease”) amounts payable under the lease are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. 

 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 

and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 

asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 
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1.15 Capital management 

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure that adequate funding and resources are obtained to 

enable it to develop its projects through to profitable production, while in the meantime safeguarding the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. This is aimed at enabling it, once the projects come to fruition, 

to provide appropriate returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group manages the 

capital structure in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk characteristics of the underlying 

projects. Conditions attached to borrowings are monitored regularly in the light of management accounts. 

Capital will continue to be sourced from equity and from borrowings as appropriate.  

 

1.16 Critical accounting judgements and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards requires 

the use of accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the 

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period.  

 

Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 

results ultimately may differ from those estimates. IFRSs also require management to exercise its judgement in 

the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 

significant to the financial statements are as follows: 

 

 Joint Operations 

A joint arrangement is an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control over an arrangement which exists only when the decisions about the 

relevant activities (being those that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement) require the unanimous 

consent of the parties sharing control. 

 

Judgement is required to determine if the Group has joint control over the Norseman Gold Project, which 

requires an assessment of the relevant activities and when the decisions in relation to those activities require 

unanimous consent. The group has determined that the relevant activities meet the definition of a joint 

arrangement. 

 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

Determining whether a tangible or an intangible asset is impaired requires an estimation of whether there are 

any indications that its carrying value is not recoverable. At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 

value of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s 

fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s 

carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement. 

 

Valuation of investments and loans to subsidiaries 

Management assesses the recoverability of investments in, and loans to, subsidiaries in accordance with IFRS 

9 – Financial Instruments, and the parent company recognises expected credit losses in relation to those 

investments in, and loans to, subsidiaries held at amortised cost. If the assumed factors vary from actual 

occurrence, this will impact on the amount of the asset which should be carried on the balance sheet of the parent 

company. 

 

Provision for rehabilitation costs 

Provisions for restoration are established in the consolidated balance sheet when the obligating event occurs. 

Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on 

a discounted basis. In determining the costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and 

extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future legislation. 
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1.16 Critical accounting judgements and estimates (cont.) 

 

Exploration and Evaluation costs 

Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised which includes determining expenditures 

directly related to these activities and allocating overheads between those that are expensed and capitalised. In 

addition, costs are only capitalised that are expected to be recovered either through successful development or 

sale of the relevant mining interest. Factors that could impact the future commercial production at the mine 

include the level of reserves and resources, future technology changes, which could impact the cost of mining, 

future legal changes and changes in commodity prices. To the extent that capitalised costs are determined not 

to be recoverable in the future, they are written off in the period in which this determination is made. 

 

1.17 Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”), interpretations issued by the International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  

 

IFRS standards first time applied in 2021 

The following is a list of new or amended IFRS standards and interpretations endorsed by the EU that have been 

applied by the Company for the first time in these financial statements: 

 

Title Subject Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Effect on the 

financial 

statements 

Amendment to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020 No effect 

Amendments IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material 1 January 2020 No effect 

Amendments to References to 

the Conceptual Framework 

in IFRS Standards  

Updates of references to or from 

the Conceptual Framework to the 

IFRS Standards 

1 January 2020 No effect 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 

39 and IFRS 7 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2020 No effect 

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent 

Concessions 

1 June 2020 No effect 

 

The adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretations had no effect on the amounts reported as 

well as the presentation and disclosure of information in the financial statements of the Group. 

 

  



TULLA RESOURCES PLC 

49 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

1.17 Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (cont.) 

 

IFRS standards to be applied after 2021 

The following is a list of new or amended IFRS standards and interpretations endorsed by the EU that have been 

applied by the Company for the first time in these financial statements: 

 

Title Subject Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Expected Effect 

on the financial 

statements 

Amendment to IFRS 9, IAS 39 

IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 

Phase 2 

1 January 2021 No effect 

Annual Improvements to 

IFRS Standards 2018-2020 

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, 

IFRS 16 and IAS 41 

1 January 2022 No effect 

Amendments to IAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022 No effect 

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of 

Fulfilling a Contract 

1 January 2022 No effect 

Amendment to IFRS 3 Amendments updating a reference 

to the Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2022 No effect 

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023 No effect 

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-Current 

1 January 2023 No effect 

Amendments to IAS 1 and 

IFRS Practice Statement 2 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023 No effect 

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023 No effect 

 

 

2. Segmental reporting 

  

For the purposes of segmental information, the Group has determined that its operations are confined to a single 

operating segment, located in a single geographical region, Australia.  All material revenue is derived from the 

development of mineral resources from its 50% interest in the Norseman Gold Project in Australia, which is the 

Group’s sole cash generating unit.  Revenues are generated from the production of precious metals, principally 

gold, and to a lesser extent, silver and these metals are sold to the government-controlled Perth Mint. It is noted 

that the Norseman Gold Project has been in the exploration and development phase for much of the years ended 

30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021 and no material income has been generated during the respective years. A 

Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) for the Norseman Gold Project was released by Pantoro in October 2020, 

and the Company has commenced construction of a new processing plant in accordance with the DFS. 
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3. Profit on sale of assets 

 

The Group’s profit on sale of assets is a recognition of the gross profit on the sale of infrastructure assets during the year 

ended 30 June 2021, and the sale of tenements and the sale of shares during the year ended 30 June 2020. The revenue 

from the sale of assets included all non-contingent consideration and the liabilities assumed by the purchaser as a result 

of the transaction. The cost base of the assets sold includes the carrying value of those assets. 

 

   Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 AUD$ 

     

Profit on sale of camp infrastructure assets   200,000 - 

Profit on sale of land and buildings   1,000,000 - 

Profit on sale of joint venture assets   40,039 - 

Profit on sale tenements in accordance with FJVA (refer below)   - 41,812,765 

Profit on sale of other tenements   - 12,500 

Profit on sale of shares   - 2,500,000 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

   1,240,039 44,325,265 

 

 

  =========== =========== 

Profit on sale of tenements in accordance with FJVA is 

reconciled as follows: 

    

- Add: Upfront consideration   - 10,000,000 

- Add: Present value of deferred consideration (12 months)   - 4,524,887 

- Add: Present value of deferred consideration (24 months)   - 8,189,840 

- Add: Fair value of shares consideration    - 17,500,000 

- Add: FY19 expenditure added to Sole Funding 

Expenditure and paid by Pantoro South Pty Ltd 

  - 1,642,417 

- Add: 50% of provision for rehabilitation assumed by 

Pantoro South Pty Ltd 

  - 20,512,218 

- Less: Carrying value of exploration assets disposed   - (18,393,597) 

- Less: Selling costs   - (2,163,000) 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

   - 41,812,765 

 

 

  =========== =========== 

The FJVA included two components on contingent consideration, details of which are set out below. These two 

contingent amounts receivable meet the criteria of contingent assets in accordance with IAS 37 as they are not virtually 

certain of being received. They are not recognised in the balance sheet as assets. The two components of contingent 

consideration are as follows: 

 

a) Royalty – 1% net smelter royalty on Pantoro’s attributable gold and silver produced from the Norseman Gold 

Project, capped at $6.0 million, plus 0.0025% royalty for a period of five (5) years after the first $6.0 million is 

paid; and 

b) Milestone Payment - $10.0 million payment upon definition of 1.80 million JORC Ore Reserve on the Norseman 

Gold Project. 
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4. Group operating profit 

 

The Group’s operating profit is stated after charging / (crediting): 

 

   Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 AUD$ 

     

ASX listing fees   203,254 - 

Auditors’ remuneration     

- Audit services   72,159 76,802 

- Non-audit services – interim review   38,667 - 

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant & equipment (note 10)   6,364 - 

Employee costs, excluding share-based payments   200,762 75,000 

Exploration costs written off (note 11)   126 - 

Foreign currency gains    (610) - 

IPO related fees (including legal and related consultant expert fees)    1,496,084 - 

Rehabilitation (credit) / expense (note 19)   (6,054,358) 174,413 

   =========== =========== 

 

5. Other operating income 

 

Group  

 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 AUD$ 

     

Equipment lease income   115,759 53,500 

Labour and fuel expenses recharged to third parties   14,142 299,541 

Related party loan forgiveness   195,352 30,250 

Rental income   16,000 30,250 

Sundry income   12,830 - 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

   354,083 383,291 

 

 

  =========== =========== 

6. Interest income and interest payable 

 

Group  

 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended  

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

 

Unwind discount on deferred consideration   950,226 1,335,046 

Interest waiver   - 76,985,125 

Interest on debt, convertible loan notes, related party 

financings and other 

   

(4,467,535) 

 

(10,319,796) 

   =========== =========== 

 

The deferred consideration included AUD$5.0 million and AUD$10.0 million receivable 12 months and 24 months 

respectively after the date of completion (9 July 2019), adjusted for the impacts of discounting. The movement in the 

carrying amount of the receivables represents an unwinding of the discount on the deferred consideration. The instalment 

of AUD$10.0 million was subsequently assigned to Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd in consideration for a reduction of 

AUD$10.0 million of the principal debt that was owed by the Group to Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd, prior to the 

conversion of debt to equity of the balance of the debt at IPO in March 2021. 
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6. Interest income and interest payable (cont.) 

 

In accordance with the resolution approved at the AGM on 31 December 2019, the Tulla Group converted AUD$5.0m 

of its principal debt into equity. Following the debt for equity conversion, the Group renegotiated the terms of its debt 

obligations with Tulla Group, consolidating the principal balance of its debts (AUD$58,058,968) under a new Loan 

Agreement, effective from 1 January 2020, with Tulla Group agreeing to waive AUD$76,985,125 in interest accrued on 

the respective loans through to 31 December 2019. The balance owing under this new Loan Agreement accrued interest 

through to termination of the new Loan Agreement following the debt for equity conversion (including interest that 

accrued from 1 January 2020) as part of the recapitalisation and listing of the Company on the ASX in March 2021. 

 

7. Taxation 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended  

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

Current tax   

Deferred tax asset (DTA) recognition - - 

Deferred tax liability  - - 

 ____________ ____________ 

   

Total current tax charge/(credit) as reported in loss - - 

 =========== =========== 

The current tax charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss  

per income statement as follows:  

 

Group (loss) / profit before tax (1,604) 111,052,944 

 =========== =========== 

   

Tax at the Australian corporation tax rate of 26% (2020: 27.5%) (417) 30,539,560 

Tax effects of:   

Non assessable income (3,184,143) (19,731,657) 

Tax losses applied - (10,807,903) 

Tax losses not recognised 3,184,143 - 

 ____________ ____________ 

   

Total current tax charge/(credit) as reported in loss - - 

 

 

=========== =========== 

The tax benefits of the deferred tax assets will only be obtained if: 

 

(a)  the company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefits to 

be utilised; 

(b)  the company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and 

(c)  no changes in income tax legislation adversely affect the company in utilising the benefits. 

 

Factors that may affect future tax charges 

At the year-end date, the Group has unused tax losses available for offset against suitable future profits of approximately 

AUD$184.9 million (2020: AUD$175.5 million).  A resulting deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of 

such losses due to the uncertainty of future profit streams.  

 

8. Parent company income statement 

  

In accordance with the provisions of the Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Parent Company has not presented 

an income statement.  A profit for the year ended 30 June 2021 of AUD$48.8 million (30 June 2020: profit of AUD$27.7 

million) has been included in the Group income statements.  The loss includes the income tax expense of AUD$ Nil 

(2020: AUD$ Nil). 
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9. Employee costs 

 

Group 

 

The employee costs of the Group and the Company, including directors’ remuneration, are as follows: 

 

 Year ended 

30 June 2021 

 AUD$ 

Year ended  

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

   

Wages, salaries and Directors fees 192,364 75,000 

Social security & superannuation costs 8,398 - 

 ____________ ____________ 

  

200,762 

 

75,000 

 ============ ============ 

 

 

During the year there were a total of six (6) Directors throughout the year with five (5) Directors current at 30 June 

2021 (2020: three (3) Directors throughout the year). There were no other staff employed during the year ended 30 

June 2021 (2020: no other staff). 

 

It is noted that the Independent Directors (past and present) have not been employees of the Group, but rather they 

invoice the Group for their services. Further details of the directors’ remuneration are shown in the Directors’ Report. 

 

The Manager of the Norseman Gold Project is responsible for employing all staff in relation to the Norseman Gold 

Project. These costs have been capitalised in accordance with the applicable IFRS Accounting Standards. 

 

10. Property, plant & equipment  

 

 

Group 

 

 

Land and  

Buildings 

AUD$ 

 

Fixed 

Plant and  

equipment 

AUD$ 

Mine 

Infrastructure 

and mobile  

equipment 

AUD$ 

 

Capital 

works in 

progress 

AUD$ 

 

 

 

Total 

AUD$ 

Cost      

At 1 July 2020 - 31,818 - - 31,818 

Additions - - - 690,319 690.319 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

      

At 30 June 2021 - 31,818 - 690,319 722,137 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

Depreciation      

At 1 July 2020 - - - - - 

Depreciation charge - (6,364) - - (6,364) 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

      

At 30 June 2021 - (6,364) - - (6,364) 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

Net book values      

30 June 2021 - 25,454 - 690,319 715,773 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== 
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10. Property, plant & equipment (cont.) 

      

 

 

Group 

 

 

Land and  

Buildings 

AUD$ 

 

Fixed 

Plant and  

equipment 

AUD$ 

Mine 

Infrastructure 

and mobile  

equipment 

AUD$ 

 

Capital 

works in 

progress 

AUD$ 

 

 

 

Total 

AUD$ 

Cost      

At 1 July 2019 780,208 8,548,456 13,758,198 - 23,086,862 

Additions - 31,818 - - 31,818 

Disposals (780,208) (8,548,456) (13,758,198) - (23,086,862) 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

      

At 30 June 2020 - 31,818 - - 31,818 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

Depreciation      

At 1 July 2019 (780,208) (8,548,456) (13,758,198) - (23,086,862) 

Disposals 780,208 8,548,456 13,758,198 - 23,086,862 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

      

At 30 June 2020 - - - - - 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

Net book values      

30 June 2020 - 31,818 - - 31,818 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== 

      

 

The Directors review the carrying values of property, plant and equipment periodically to ensure the carrying value will 

be recovered by ongoing mining activities.  

 

 

11. Exploration & evaluation assets 

 

Group 

Year ended 

30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

 

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:   

   

Exploration and evaluation phases:   

At 1 July 2020 - - 

Exploration expenditure incurred during the year 2,854,137 - 

Exploration expenditure written off (126) - 

  ___________ ___________ 

   

As at 30 June 2021 2,854,011 - 

 =========== =========== 

Disposal group assets available for sale (Exploration):   

At 1 July 2020 - 18,393,597 

   

Recognition of disposal - (18,393,597) 

  ___________ ___________ 

   

As at 30 June 2021 - - 

 =========== =========== 
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11. Exploration & evaluation assets (cont.) 

 

In accordance with the FJVA, the Group commenced incurring its 50% share of the costs of the Norseman Gold Project 

upon completion of the Sole Funding Period in April 2021. This included contributing to the exploration activities of the 

Norseman Gold Project. 

 

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the exploration and evaluation phases 

is dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas. The 

Group has an interest in certain exploration licences and the amounts shown above include amounts expended, since the 

end of the sole funding period, in the exploration of those tenements. 

 

Recovery of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful development 

and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 

 

In accordance with accounting standard guidance, for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group, as “farmor” under the 

FJVA, recognised all non-contingent consideration under the FJVA, including cash, deferred cash and shares issued in 

Pantoro Ltd. To the extent that this non-contingent consideration exceeded the carrying value of 100% of the Exploration 

and Evaluation Assets, the excess has been recognised as profit on sale of assets. 

 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the present value of all non-contingent consideration exceeded the opening carrying 

balance of AUD$18,393,597, accordingly, the balance was written down to nil in the Balance Sheet of the Group. Any 

future contingent consideration, if received, will be recognised immediately as a profit on sale of assets due to the nil 

carrying value of the assets sold. 

 

 

12. Mine properties and development phase 

 

Group 

Year ended 

30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

 

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:   

   

Mine properties and development phases:   

At 1 July 2020 - - 

Development expenditure incurred during the year 650,582 - 

  ___________ ___________ 

   

As at 30 June 2021 650,582 - 

 =========== =========== 

 

Expenditure on developing mine properties in production represents costs incurred in relation to development of 

operating mines at the Group’s Norseman Gold Project.  The Directors review this carrying value periodically to ensure 

the carrying value will be recovered by ongoing mining activities.  The Directors assess the carrying values of the 

capitalised mine development costs against the operations and impair the value of those assets down to the estimated 

recoverable amount.  
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13. Investments in subsidiary undertakings 

 

 

Loans to 

subsidiary 

undertakings 

AUD$ 

Shares in 

subsidiary 

undertakings 

AUD$ 

 

 

Total 

AUD$ 

Company    

Cost    

At 1 July 2020 13,810,948 - 13,810,948 

Additional funds loaned to subsidiaries 28,587,218 - 28,587,218 

Loans repaid from subsidiaries in the year (2,911,504) - (2,911,504) 

Assignment of related party loans 38,195,802 - 38,195,802 

Reversal of prior period provisions for impairment 51,029,117 - 51,0129,117 

 ___________    ___________ __________ 

    

At 30 June 2021 128,711,581 - 128,711,581 

  ========== ===========   ========== 

 

 

 

Loans to 

subsidiary 

undertakings 

AUD$ 

Shares in 

subsidiary 

undertakings 

AUD$ 

 

 

Total 

AUD$ 

Company    

Cost    

At 1 July 2019 - - - 

Loans repaid from subsidiaries in the year (6,440,520) - (6,440,520) 

Reversal of prior period provision for impairment 20,251,468 - 20,251,468 

 ___________    ___________ __________ 

    

At 30 June 2020 13,810,948 - 13,810,948 

  ========== ===========   ========== 

 

The loans due from subsidiaries are interest free, unsecured and repayable to the Company in more than one year with no 

fixed repayment terms.  

 

Loans owing by CNGC to Tulla Private were assigned to Tulla Resources Plc in order to facilitate the debt for equity 

conversion as part of the IPO process. The consequential outcome of this assignment was an increase in the loan owing 

from CNGC to Tulla Resources Plc 

 

In accordance with IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, the loan provided by the parent entity (Tulla Resources Plc) to the 

subsidiary (CNGC) is reviewed for impairment each year and the parent entity is required to recognise expected credit 

losses for this financial asset. In prior years the financial asset had been impaired due to the uncertainty of the recoverable 

value of the loan. However, as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021 the assessment of the carrying value in accordance with 

IFRS 9 indicated a recoverable value in excess of the carrying value, accordingly a reversal of the prior year impairment 

has been recognised in the respective years. 

 

Subsidiary undertakings: 

 

Name of company Country Holding Proportion held Nature of business 

Norseman Gold Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary Shares 100% Intermediate holding company 

Central Norseman Gold 

Corporation Pty Ltd* 

Australia Ordinary Shares 100% Gold mining company 

Pangolin Resources Pty 

Ltd** 

Australia Ordinary Shares 100% Mineral exploration company 

 

*The Company’s interest in Central Norseman Gold Corporation Pty Ltd is held through Norseman Gold Pty Ltd. 

** Pangolin Resources Pty Ltd ("Pangolin") is a subsidiary of Central Norseman Gold Corporation Pty Ltd.  
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14. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

 

 

Group 

Year ended 

30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss   

At 1 July 2020 - - 

Financial assets purchased during the year ended 30 June 2021 21,020,000 - 

Revaluation to fair value through profit and loss (1,020,000) - 

  ___________ ___________ 

   

As at 30 June 2021 20,000,000 - 

 =========== =========== 

 

 

Company 

Year ended 

30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

Year ended 

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss   

At 1 July 2020 - - 

Financial assets purchased during the year ended 30 June 2021 21,020,000 - 

Revaluation to fair value through profit and loss (1,020,000) - 

  ___________ ___________ 

   

As at 30 June 2021 20,000,000 - 

 =========== =========== 

 

 

15. Trade and other receivables 

 

 

 

30 June 2021 

 

30 June 2020 

 Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Current:     

Deferred consideration – current - - 5,000,000 - 

Other receivables 548,180 334,487 289,987 161,742 

Amounts due from subsidiary company - 1,700,000 - 2,700,000 

Prepayments 44,340 - 5,000 - 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

 592,520 2,034,487 5,294,987 2,861,742 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== 

Non-current:     

Deferred consideration – non-current - - 9,049,774 - 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

 - - 9,049,774 - 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== 

 

The deferred consideration at 30 June 2020 included AUD$5.0 million and AUD$10.0 million receivable 12 and 24 

months, respectively after the date of completion (9 July 2019) of the FJVA with Pantoro, adjusted for the impacts of 

discounting. The carrying amount approximated the fair value as at 30 June 2020. The second tranche of the deferred 

consideration, due 24 months after the date of completion of the FJVA, was assigned to Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd 

in consideration for a reduction of AUD$10.0 million of the balance of loan amount owed by the Group to Tulla 

Resources Group Pty Ltd prior to the IPO. 
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16.         Inventories 

 
30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

 Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

     

Work in progress – Crushed ore (at cost) 188,646 - - - 

Raw materials and stores (at cost) 47,042 - - - 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

 235,688 - - - 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== 

 

17.         Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 2021 for the Group amounted to AUD$50.0 million (30 June 2020: AUD$0.06 

million) and for the Company AUD$45.9 million (2020: AUD$121). 

 

 

18. Trade and other payables 

 
30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

 Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

     

Trade payables 2,458,893 28,083 5,356,345 1,311,435 

Other payables 1,424,723 84,327 1,313,597 110,000 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

     

 3,883,616 112,410 6,669,942 1,421,435 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== 

 

 

19. Provisions for liabilities 

 

Group 

Current: 

Employees  

Benefits 

AUD$ 

Rehabilitation 

and 

decommissioning 

AUD$ 

 

Total 

AUD$ 

    

At 1 July 2020 - - - 

Debit to income statement 93,308 - 93,308 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ 

    

As at 30 June 2021 93,308 - 93,308 

 =========== =========== =========== 

 

 

Non-current: 

Employees  

Benefits 

AUD$ 

Rehabilitation 

and 

decommissioning 

AUD$ 

 

Total 

AUD$ 

    

At 1 July 2020 - 20,686,630 20,686,630 

Credit to income statement - (6,054,358) (6,054,358) 

Rehabilitation work completed - (370,121) (370,121) 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ 

    

As at 30 June 2021 - 14,262,151 14,262,151 

 =========== =========== =========== 
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19. Provisions for liabilities (cont.) 

 

Environmental obligations associated with the retirement or disposal of mining properties and/or exploration activities 

are recognised when the disturbance occurs and are based on the extent of the damage incurred. The provision is 

measured at the present value of the future expenditure. The rehabilitation liability is remeasured at each reporting 

period in line with the change in the time value of money (recognised as an expense in the Group Statement of 

Comprehensive Income and an increase in the provision).  

 

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Manager engaged the services of an external consultant to update the Mine 

Closure Plan for submission to DMIRS in accordance with its licence requirements. The detailed review was the first 

review undertaken since 2017 and considered the impact, on the closure requirements for the site, of the new mine plan 

outlined in the DFS. This included a reclassification of the significant tailings dams on the Norseman Gold Project into 

low grade stockpiles to be processed through the new processing plant to be built. This reclassification resulted in a 

material reduction in the estimated rehabilitation liability reported to DMIRS in the Mine Closure Plan, with the 

consequential impact on the financial statements being a material reduction in the liability and a credit to the income 

statement 

 

20. Loans and borrowings 

 
30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

 Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Current:     

Related party loans – Interest bearing - - 11,460 - 

Unpaid Interest on Related party loans - - 11,380 - 

Related party loans – Non-interest bearing - - 1,889,552 1,694,200 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

     

 - - 1,912,392 1,694,200 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== 

 

 
30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

 Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Group 

AUD$ 

Company 

AUD$ 

Non-current:     

New facility – Related party - - 59,014,968 - 

Unpaid interest on new facility – Related party - - 3,131,255 - 

 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 

     

 - - 62,146,223 - 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== 

 

Related Party Loans - Current 

 

The related party loans were currently unsecured with interest being accrued at a maximum of 11.46% per annum on a 

monthly compounding basis, or in accordance with original documentation. No interest was paid during the year. These 

loans were not part of the loan consolidation and interest waiver arrangement as outlined in the Circular to the 2019 

AGM. This related party loan was repaid in full during the year ended 30 June 2021.  

 

New Facility Agreement 

 

The New Facility Agreement was a secured facility from Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd (a related party of Tulla) 

(“Tulla”) to Central Norseman Gold Corporation Pty Ltd (“CNGC”) which is guaranteed by the Company. The amount 

owing under this New Facility Agreement was repaid in full and all security released, during the year ended on 30 June 

2021.There are no outstanding loans at 30 June 2021. 

 

 



TULLA RESOURCES PLC 

60 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

20. Loans and borrowings (cont.) 

 

At a general meeting of the Company held on 31 December 2019 shareholders voted in favour of Resolutions relating 

to a debt for equity swap and new financing arrangements as part of an overall restructuring of the Company’s share 

capital and rights attaching to its share capital. The total indebtedness owing to Tulla after this restructuring as at 1 

January 2020 was AUD$58,198,968.  

 

Key terms of the New Facility Agreement were as follows: 

• Facility limit – AUD$60 million 

• Interest - calculated at a rate of 10.5% per annum to be reviewed bi-annually against the current commercial 

market interest rate and any change to be subject to agreement between the parties. 

• Interest – to accrue with effect from 1 January 2020 for the period to 31 December 2020 and only becomes 

repayable on 31 July 2021 

• Repayment – not until 31 July 2021 and if no demand by that date to extend by three calendar months and 

thereafter on a rolling basis until Tulla demands payment 

 

21. Share capital  

 30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

 £ £ 

Allotted, called up and fully paid 

New ordinary shares of £0.00003827 each 6,180,737 2,671,485 

Deferred shares of £0.01246173 each - 13,922,273 

 

  6,180,737 16,593,758 

  ========= ========= 

 

 AUD$ AUD$ 

Allotted, called up and fully paid 

New ordinary shares of £0.00003827 each 11,336,779 5,070,258 

Deferred shares of £0.01246173 each - 22,877,922 

 

  11,336,779 27,948,180 

  ========= ========= 

 

 

 

Movement in issued and fully paid 

capital and share premium reserve 

 

 

 

Number 

Issued and 

fully paid 

capital 

£ 

Share 

premium 

reserve 

£ 

Issued and 

fully paid 

capital 

AUD$ 

Share 

premium 

reserve 

AUD$ 

      

 

Total as at 30 June 2020 69,806,253,699 16,593,758 75,658,738 27,948,180 143,086,801 

 

Share consolidation (600:1) 116,343,756 16,593,758 75,658,738 27,948,180 143,086,801 

 

Deferred shares cancelled - (13,922,273) 13,922,273 (22,877,922) 22,877,922 

 

New shares issued 152,828,667 3,509,252 73,516,397 6,266,521 131,279,280 

 

Share issue costs - - (2,087,854) - (3,728,310) 

 

Total as at 30 June 2021 269,172,423 6,180,737 161,009,554 11,336,779 293,515,693 

 

During the year ended 30 June 2020, in accordance with the resolution at the AGM on 31 December 2019, all Ordinary Shares 

on issue were split into a New Ordinary Share (of £0.00003827 each) and a Deferred Share of (£0.01246173 each).  
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21. Share capital (cont.) 

 

As outlined in the Circular and Notice of General Meeting to Shareholders dated 15 February 2021 which have been 

uploaded to the Company’s website the Resolution at the General Meeting approved the purchase by the Company of 

the Deferred Shares each for the total consideration of £0.01 and then cancel the Deferred Shares pursuant to the terms 

of a Deferred Share Agreement dated 11 February 2021. The Deferred Shares have been cancelled. 

 

At the General Meeting on 9 March 2021, the Resolution was passed to consolidate 600 ordinary shares with a nominal 

value of £0.00003827 each in the capital of the Company for one (1) New Ordinary Share with a nominal value of 

£0.022962 each in the capital of the Company. This resulted in a reduction in the number of New Ordinary Share on 

issue from 69,806,253,699 to 116,343,756. 

 

The Company then completed the IPO and listed on the ASX on 18 March 2021, issuing a total of 152,828,667 shares at a 

price of AUD$0.90 per share, bringing the total number of New Ordinary Shares, of £0.022962 each, in the Company to 

269,172,423. 

 

22. Financial instruments 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

At 30 June 2021, the Group had Australian Dollar cash deposits of AUD$50.0 million (30 June 2020: AUD$0.06 

million).  The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate 

as a result of changes in market interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, was as follows: 

 

 Floating Non - Interest Floating Non - Interest 

 interest rate Bearing  interest rate Bearing 

 30 June 2021 30 June 2021 30 June 2020 30 June 2020 

 AUD$ AUD$ AUD$ AUD$ 

Financial assets: 

Cash at bank and in hand 50,031,092 - 63,312 - 

  ========= ========= ========= ========= 

 

The effective weighted average interest rate was 0.10% (30 June 2020: 0.01%). 

 

Net Fair Value 

The net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates to their carrying amount as disclosed in the 

balance sheet and in the related notes. 

 

Currency Risk 

The functional currency for the Group's operating activities is the Australian Dollar.  The Group's objective in managing 

currency exposures arising from its net investment overseas is to maintain a low level of borrowings.  The Group has not 

hedged against currency depreciation but continues to keep the matter under review. 

 

Financial Risk Management 

The Company has established an Audit and Risk Committee comprising the three non-executive independent directors: 

Fred Kempson (Chair), Andrew Greville and Michael Anglin. Under its charter the Audit and Risk Committee’s 

responsibilities include: 

• Overseeing the preparation of financial and other periodic reports: 

• Overseeing the Company’s relationship with the external Auditors and the external audit function generally 

• Managing processes for identifying and managing financial and non-financial risk 

• Overseeing the Company’s internal controls and systems; and 

• Managing processes for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations. 

 

 

Credit Risk 

The entity’s maximum exposures to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is 

the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the balance sheet.  The Group trades only with recognised, credit 

worthy third parties.  
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22. Financial instruments (cont.) 

 

Price Risk 

The Group has an exposure to commodity price risk.   The Group has not hedged against this risk but continues to keep 

the matter under review in line with its Financial Risk Management Policy. 

 

23. Exploration expenditure commitments 

 

 30 June 2021  30 June 2020 

 Group Company Group Company 

 AUD$ AUD$ AUD$ AUD$ 

As at the balance sheet date the  

aggregate amount payable is: 

 

Within not more than one year 5,843,3600 - 5,748,280 - 

  ========= ========= ========= ========= 

The tenements comprise one consolidated project; C11/1995. Under the terms of each tenement, the tenement holder is 

required to meet minimum annual expenditure commitments pursuant to the terms of the licence conditions. Upon completion 

of the Pantoro Transaction on 9 July 2019 the obligation to meet the exploration expenditure commitment passed to Pantoro 

for the period of Sole Funding Period.  The Sole Funding Period ended in April 2021, accordingly, the Group is liable for 

50% of the above commitments in accordance with the terms of the FJVA. Notwithstanding this, the tenements will require 

this gross annual expenditure to ensure they are maintained in good standing. 

 

24. Related party transactions 

 

The Key management of the Group comprises the Directors of the Company. The remuneration paid or accrued to the 

Directors, in accordance with the service contracts which include payments made to entities associated with the Directors, 

during the year ended 30 June 2021, was as follows: 

 

     2021 2020 

     Total Total 

    AUD$ AUD$ 

Kevin Maloney    $53,773 - 

Mark Maloney    $43,018 - 

Arthur Michael Anglin    $24,050 - 

Andrew Greville    $24,050 - 

Frederick Kempson    $46,871 $39,000 

David Steinepreis (former Director)   $9,000 $36,000 

     __________ __________  

 

Totals     $200,762 $75,000 

     =========  =========  

Other transactions with related parties: 

 

• CNGC was indebted to Tulla, Private, a company associated with Kevin Maloney, pursuant to the New 

Facility Agreement. All outstanding indebtedness was discharged on the terms of the Debt Consolidation 

Agreement and the New Facility Agreement has been terminated and all security released (see Note 20) 

• The residential houses in the township of Norseman and the accommodation camp on site at Norseman owned 

by CNGC were sold to Resource Accommodation Management Pty Ltd (RAM), a company associated with 

Kevin Maloney. These agreements are referred to on page 5. 

• Tulla Private, a company associated with Kevin Maloney, sold it shares in Pantoro Limited to the Company 

(see page 5) 

• The company assigned the Second Deferred Payment of AUD$10 million (as defined in the FJVA) to Tulla 

Private, a company associated with Kevin Maloney (see page 5). 
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25. Net cash flows from operating activities 

 

 

 

Group 

Notes Year ended  

30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

Year ended  

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

    

Group operating profit   4,534,706 43,052,445 

    

Adjustments for items not requiring an outlay of funds:    

Depreciation and impairment 4 6,364 - 

Exploration expenditure written off 11 126 - 

Profit on sale of assets  (1,240,039) (44,325,265) 

Provision for rehabilitation costs  - 174,413 

Reversal of prior year provision for rehabilitation costs 20 (6,054,358) - 

Write off related party loan  (195,352) - 

  ___________ ___________ 

    

Net cash outflow before changes in working capital  (2,948,553) (1,098,407) 

    

Increase in inventories 16 (235,688) - 

(Increase) / decrease in receivables and prepayments 15 (297,533) 292,499 

Decrease in payables 18 (222,123) (239,215) 

Decrease in provisions for liabilities 19 (276,813) (49,077) 

  ___________ ___________ 

    

Net cash outflow from operations  (3,980,710) (1,094,200) 

Interest received  999 123 

  ___________ ___________ 

    

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (3,979,711) (1,094,077) 

  ========== ========== 
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25. Net cash flows from operating activities (continued) 

 

 

 

Company 

Year ended  

30 June 2021 

AUD$ 

Year ended  

30 June 2020 

AUD$ 

   

Operating profit including impairment charges 48,832,823 20,378,833 

Intercompany loan (write back)   (51,029,117) (20,251,468) 

Changes in fair value of financial assets   1,020,000 - 

 

 

___________ ___________ 

Net cash outflow before changes in working capital (1,176,294) 127,365 

   

Increase/(decrease) in receivables and prepayments 827,255 (2,680,936) 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (1,309,026) 1,293,520 

Decrease in related party loans - (180,500) 

 ___________ ___________ 

   

Net cash outflow from operations (1,658,065) (1,440,551) 

Interest received 964 - 

 ___________ ___________ 

   

Net cash outflow) from operating activities (1,657,101) (1,440,551) 

 

 

========== ========== 

 

26. Control 

 

 

Kevin Maloney and Mark Maloney (and related entities) owned 64.7% of the Company at 30 June 2021. 

 

27.   Contingent liabilities 

 

Prosecution 

 

On 20 March 2020 Magistrate A D Hills-Wright of the Kalgoorlie Magistrates Court handed down its Decision in relation 

to the prosecution commenced by the Department of Mines, Industry, Regulation & Safety (DMIRS) against CNGC in 

August 2018 in relation to the excavator incident in the North Royal open pit in August 2015. The Magistrate acquitted 

CNGC at trial and ordered DMIRS to pay CNGC’s costs. DMIRs has appealed this Decision which was heard by the 

Supreme Court of Western Australia on 24 November 2020. No decision has been delivered. If the appeal is successful 

the maximum fine that the Court can impose on CNGC is AUD$250,000, plus DMIRS’s legal costs. 

 

28. Subsequent events 

 

The following events have occurred subsequent to 30 June 2021: 

 

• On 14 September 2021 the Company announced a maiden Mineral Resource of 6.8Mt @ 1.4g/Au for 310,000 

ounces and a maiden Ore Reserve of 2.65Mt @ 1.3g Au for 110,000 ounces at a cut-off trade of 0.6 g/t under 

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012 edition) 

in respect to the new discovery at Green Lantern in the Scotia Mining Centre. The company’s interest is 50%; 

 

• On 27 September 2021 the Company announced a restated attributable Mineral Resource of 20.7 Mt @ 3.4 g/t 

Au for 2,267,000 ounces, and a restated attributable Ore Reserve of 5.8 Mt @ 1.9 g/t for 357,000 ounces t under 

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012 

edition); 

 

• On 28 September 2021 Stephen Law resigned as a Company Secretary and Stephen Maffey was appointed a 

Company Secretary of the Company. 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR ASX LISTED PUBLIC COMPANIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 

The following additional information is required by the Australian Securities Exchange in respect of listed public 

companies only. 

 

1. Shareholding as at 22 September 2021 

 

a) Distribution of equity shareholders 

 

 
 Shares (including CDIs) 

Category (size of holding)   Number of 

shareholders 

Number of 

shares 

     

1 – 1,000   1,738 153,975 

1,001 – 5,000   307 873,000 

5,001 – 10,000   170 1,403,108 

10,001 – 100,000   418 14,562,307 

100,001 and over   84 252,180,033 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

   2,717 269,172,423 

   =========== =========== 

 

b) Number of shareholders with less than a marketable parcel 

 

The number of CDI holders holding less than a marketable parcel is 489. The minimum parcel size is 1,042. 

 

c) Voting rights 

 

The Company is incorporated under the legal jurisdiction of England and Wales. To enable companies such as the 

Company to have their securities cleared and settled electronically through CHESS, Depositary Instruments called 

CHESS Depositary Interests (CDIs) are issued.  Each CDI represents one underlying ordinary share in the Company 

(Share). The main difference between holding CDIs and Shares is that CDI holders hold the beneficial ownership in the 

Shares instead of legal title. CHESS Depositary Nominees Pty Limited (CDN), a subsidiary of ASX, holds the legal title 

to the underlying Shares.  

 

Pursuant to the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, CDI holders receive all of the economic benefits of actual ownership 

of the underlying Shares. CDIs are traded in a manner similar to shares of Australian companies listed on ASX.  

 

CDIs will be held in uncertificated form and settled/transferred through CHESS. No share certificates are issued to CDI 

holders.  Each CDI is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or by proxy 

has one vote on a show of hands.  

 

If holders of CDls wish to attend and vote at the Company's general meetings, they will be able to do so. Under the ASX 

Listing Rules and the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, the Company as an issuer of CDls must allow CDI holders to 

attend any meeting of the holders of Shares unless relevant English law at the time of the meeting prevents CDI holders 

from attending those meetings.  

 

In order to vote at such meetings, CDI holders have the following options:  

 

• instructing CDN, as the legal owner, to vote the Shares underlying their CDls in a particular manner. A voting 

instruction form will be sent to CDI holders with the notice of meeting or proxy statement for the meeting and 

this must be completed and returned to the Company's Share Registry prior to the meeting; or  

 

informing the Company that they wish to nominate themselves or another person to be appointed as CDN's 

proxy with respect to their Shares underlying the CDls for the purposes of attending and voting at the general 

meeting; or  
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c) Voting rights (cont.) 

 

• converting their CDls into a holding of Shares and voting these at the meeting (however, if thereafter the former 

CDI holder wishes to sell their investment on ASX it would be necessary to convert the Shares back to CDls). 

In order to vote in person, the conversion must be completed prior to the record date for the meeting. See above 

for further information regarding the conversion process. 

 

As holders of CDls will not appear on the Company's share register as the legal holders of the Shares, they will not be 

entitled to vote at Shareholder meetings unless one of the above steps is undertaken. 

 

As each CDI represents one Share, a CDI Holder will be entitled to one vote for every CDl they hold. 

 

CDI voting instruction forms, and details of these alternatives will be included in each notice of meeting sent to CDI 

holders by the Company. 

 

These voting rights exist only under the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, rather than under the Companies Act 2006 

(England and Wales). Since CDN is the legal holder of the applicable Shares and the holders of CDIs are not themselves 

the legal holder of their applicable Shares, the holders of CDls do not have any directly enforceable rights under the 

Company’s articles of association. 

 

d) 20 largest shareholders as at 22 September 2021 

 

     
No. 

Shareholder Units % Units 

1 
TULLA RESOURCES GROUP PTY LIMITED <TULLA RESOURCES INVEST 

A/C> 
168,595,668 62.63% 

2 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 10,583,025 3.93% 

3 BELL POTTER NOMINEES LTD <BB NOMINEES A/C> 9,568,763 3.55% 

4 BERNE NO 132 NOMINEES PTY LTD <740069 A/C> 8,777,778 3.26% 

5 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LTD 4,663,974 1.73% 

6 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 4,119,297 1.53% 

7 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 4,010,076 1.49% 

8 BRISPOT NOMINEES PTY LTD <HOUSE HEAD NOMINEE A/C> 3,536,509 1.31% 

9 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 3,389,777 1.26% 

10 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSI EDA 2,409,807 0.90% 

11 MR ROBERT MARTIN FRIEDLAND 2,222,223 0.83% 

12 CS FOURTH NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 11 A/C> 1,736,267 0.65% 

13 MARLEY HOLDINGS PTY LTD <MALONEY FAMILY A/C NO 1> 1,729,547 0.64% 

14 INTREPIC INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <INTREPIC INVESTMENTS A/C> 1,723,499 0.64% 

15 CG NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD 1,666,657 0.62% 

16 MARLEY HOLDINGS PTY LTD <MALONEY FAMILY A/C NO 4> 1,598,294 0.59% 

17 BT PORTFOLIO SERVICES LIMITED <WARRELL HOLDINGS S/F A/C> 1,500,000 0.56% 

18 JETOSEA PTY LTD 1,282,764 0.48% 

19 MANDERRAH PTY LTD <GJJ FAMILY A/C> 1,200,275 0.45% 

20 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 1,193,486 0.44% 

Total 235,507,686 87.49% 
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e) Substantial Shareholders as at 22 September 2021 

 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the names of all Substantial Holders and the number of equity securities in 

which each Substantial Holder has a relevant interest (within the meaning of section 608 of the Corporations Act) is as 

follows: 

 

No Shareholder  CDIs % 

     

1 Tulla Resources Group Pty Ltd and related entities  174,135,452 64.7 

   ____________ ____________ 

     

   174,135,452  64.7 

   =========== =========== 

 

2. Name of joint Company Secretaries 

 

Stephen Maffey and Mark McIntosh located in Australia and Ben Harber located in the United Kingdom. 

 

3. Principal Registered Offices 

 

Registered Office:   6th Floor 

 60 Gracechurch Street 

 London EC3V 0HR  

 

Principal Office in Australia: Suite 5, Level 2  

 2 Grosvenor Street  

 Bondi Junction NSW 2022 

 Telephone: +61 2 9387 5900 

 

4. Registers of Securities 

 

The Company operates a certificated principal register of Shares in the UK, a branch register of Shares in Australia and 

uncertificated issuer sponsored and CHESS sub-registers of CDIs in Australia.  

 

The Company’s uncertificated issuer sponsored, and CHESS sub-register of CDIs are maintained by Computershare as 

per the below. The register of Shares is the register of the legal title (and will reflect legal ownership by CDN of the 

Shares underlying the CDIs with the Shares held by CDN recorded on the branch register of Shares in Australia 

maintained by Computershare). The two uncertificated sub-registers of CDIs combined make up the register of beneficial 

title of the Shares underlying the CDIs. 

 

The Register of Securities are held at  

 

United Kingdom: 

Link Group 

10th Floor, Central Square 

29 Wellington Street 

Leeds LS1 4DL 

Telephone: +44 (0) 371 664 0300 

 

Australia: 

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 

Level 11, 172 St. George’s Terrace   

Perth Western Australia 6005 

Telephone: 1300 850 505 

Overseas: +61 8 9415 4000 

Facsimile: +61 8 9323 2033 
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5. Securities Exchange listing 

 

Quotation has been granted for all the CDIs of the Company on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited. The 

Company is not listed on any other exchange. Of the 269,172,423 Ordinary Shares on issue at 30 June 2021, 755,403 

have not been registered on the Company's uncertified issuer sponsored and CHESS sub-registers of CDIs maintained 

by Computershare. 

 

 

6. Unquoted Securities 

 

The Company has no unquoted securities on issue. 

 

7. Restricted Securities 

 

The Company has the following categories of restricted securities on issue. 

 

Category  Number ASX or 

Voluntary 

End of Escrow 

Period 

     

Shares  22,834,875 Voluntary 14 March 2022 

Shares  22,834,875 Voluntary 14 September 2022 

Shares  108,955,551 ASX 18 March 2023 

  ____________ ____________ ____________ 

     

8. On Market Buy-Back 

 

There is no current on-market buy-back of the Companies securities. 

 

9. Section 611 (7) Corporations Act 

 

There are no issues of securities approved for the purpose if Item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act which have 

not yet been completed. 

 

10. Place of Incorporation 

 

The Company is incorporated in the jurisdiction of England and Wales with the company number 05380466. 

 

The Company is registered as a foreign company in Australia with registered number 122 088 073. 

 

 

11. Summary of interest in mining tenements as at 22 September 2021 

 

Norseman, WA Status Interest (%) 

E63/1759 Application 50% 

L63/74 Application 50% 

L63/95 Application 50% 

P63/2239 Application 50% 

P63/2240 Application 50% 

E63/1641 Granted 50% 

E63/1919 Granted 50% 

E63/1920 Granted 50% 

E63/1921 Granted 50% 

E63/1969 Granted 50% 

E63/1970 Granted 50% 
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Norseman, WA Status Interest (%) 

E63/1975 Granted 50% 

E63/2034 Granted 50% 

E63/2062 Granted 50% 

L63/12 Granted 50% 

L63/13 Granted 50% 

L63/14 Granted 50% 

L63/17 Granted 50% 

L63/19 Granted 50% 

L63/32 Granted 50% 

L63/34 Granted 50% 

L63/35 Granted 50% 

L63/36 Granted 50% 

L63/37 Granted 50% 

L63/38 Granted 50% 

L63/39 Granted 50% 

L63/40 Granted 50% 

L63/41 Granted 50% 

L63/56 Granted 50% 

M63/100 Granted 50% 

M63/105 Granted 50% 

M63/108 Granted 50% 

M63/11 Granted 50% 

M63/110 Granted 50% 

M63/112 Granted 50% 

M63/114 Granted 50% 

M63/115 Granted 50% 

M63/116 Granted 50% 

M63/118 Granted 50% 

M63/119 Granted 50% 

M63/120 Granted 50% 

M63/122 Granted 50% 

M63/125 Granted 50% 

M63/126 Granted 50% 

M63/127 Granted 50% 

M63/128 Granted 50% 

M63/129 Granted 50% 

M63/13 Granted 50% 

M63/130 Granted 50% 

M63/133 Granted 50% 

M63/134 Granted 50% 

M63/136 Granted 50% 

M63/137 Granted 50% 

M63/138 Granted 50% 

M63/14 Granted 50% 

M63/140 Granted 50% 

M63/141 Granted 50% 
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Norseman, WA Status Interest (%) 

M63/142 Granted 50% 

M63/145 Granted 50% 

M63/15 Granted 50% 

M63/152 Granted 50% 

M63/155 Granted 50% 

M63/156 Granted 50% 

M63/160 Granted 50% 

M63/164 Granted 50% 

M63/173 Granted 50% 

M63/174 Granted 50% 

M63/178 Granted 50% 

M63/180 Granted 50% 

M63/182 Granted 50% 

M63/184 Granted 50% 

M63/187 Granted 50% 

M63/189 Granted 50% 

M63/190 Granted 50% 

M63/204 Granted 45% 

M63/207 Granted 50% 

M63/213 Granted 50% 

M63/214 Granted 50% 

M63/218 Granted 50% 

M63/219 Granted 50% 

M63/220 Granted 50% 

M63/224 Granted 50% 

M63/231 Granted 50% 

M63/232 Granted 50% 

M63/233 Granted 50% 

M63/257 Granted 50% 

M63/258 Granted 50% 

M63/259 Granted 50% 

M63/26 Granted 50% 

M63/265 Granted 50% 

M63/272 Granted 50% 

M63/273 Granted 50% 

M63/274 Granted 50% 

M63/275 Granted 50% 

M63/29 Granted 50% 

M63/315 Granted 50% 

M63/316 Granted 50% 

M63/325 Granted 50% 

M63/327 Granted 50% 

M63/35 Granted 50% 

M63/36 Granted 50% 

M63/40 Granted 50% 

M63/41 Granted 50% 
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Norseman, WA Status Interest (%) 

M63/42 Granted 50% 

M63/43 Granted 50% 

M63/44 Granted 50% 

M63/45 Granted 50% 

M63/46 Granted 50% 

M63/47 Granted 50% 

M63/48 Granted 50% 

M63/49 Granted 50% 

M63/50 Granted 50% 

M63/51 Granted 50% 

M63/52 Granted 50% 

M63/526 Granted 50% 

M63/53 Granted 50% 

M63/54 Granted 50% 

M63/55 Granted 50% 

M63/56 Granted 50% 

M63/57 Granted 50% 

M63/58 Granted 50% 

M63/59 Granted 50% 

M63/60 Granted 50% 

M63/61 Granted 50% 

M63/62 Granted 50% 

M63/63 Granted 50% 

M63/64 Granted 50% 

M63/65 Granted 50% 

M63/659 Granted 50% 

M63/66 Granted 50% 

M63/666 Granted 50% 

M63/668 Granted 50% 

M63/67 Granted 50% 

M63/68 Granted 50% 

M63/69 Granted 50% 

M63/88 Granted 50% 

M63/9 Granted 50% 

M63/96 Granted 50% 

M63/99 Granted 50% 

P63/2003 Granted 50% 

P63/2004 Granted 50% 

P63/2010 Granted 50% 

P63/2089 Granted 50% 

P63/2138 Granted 50% 

P63/2139 Granted 50% 

P63/2140 Granted 50% 

P63/2141 Granted 50% 

P63/2142 Granted 50% 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

 

Tulla Resources Plc is committed to high standards of corporate governance. The Company is listed on the Australian 

Securities Exchange (“ASX”) and refer to the corporate governance section of the Company’s website 

www.tullaresources.com (together with the Board Charter and various Corporate Governance policies of the Company). 

This corporate governance statement relates to the financial year ended 30 June 2021 and has been approved by the 

Board. 

 

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of Tulla Resources. 

 

The Board monitors the operational and financial position and performance of the Tulla Resources and oversees its 

business strategy including approving its strategic goals. The Board is committed to maximising performance, generating 

appropriate levels of value and financial returns, and sustaining the growth and success of Tulla Resources. With these 

objectives in mind, the Board is concerned to ensure that Tulla Resources is properly managed to protect and enhance 

shareholder interests and that Tulla Resources, its Directors, officers and employees, operate in an appropriate 

environment of corporate governance. 

 

Accordingly, the Board has created a framework for managing Tulla Resources including adopting relevant internal 

controls, risk management processes and corporate governance policies and practices, which it believes are appropriate 

for Tulla Resources’ business and which are designed to promote the responsible management and conduct of Tulla 

Resources. 

 

A summary of the key risks for the Company are set out below. 

 

Communication with shareholders 

The Board recognises it is accountable to shareholders for the performance and activities of the Company.  

 

The 2021 Annual General Meeting of the Company will provide an opportunity for the Chairman to present to the 

shareholders a report on current operations and developments and enable the shareholders to express their views about 

the Company’s business. 

 

The Board  

The Board of Tulla Resources Plc currently consists of three (3) Non-Executive Directors and two (2) Executive 

Directors. The composition of the Board ensures no one individual or Group of persons dominates the decision-making 

process.  

 

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for setting the direction of the Company through the establishment of 

strategic objectives and key policies. The Board meets on a regular basis and considers the strategic direction, approves 

major capital expenditure, and any other matters having a material effect on the Company. Presentations are made to the 

Board on the activities and both the Executive and Non-Executive Directors undertake visits to operations.  

 

All Directors have access to management, including the Company Secretaries, and to such information as is needed to 

carry out their duties and responsibilities fully and effectively. 

 

The composition and tenure of the Board as of 31 December 2020, as well as each member’s independence status during 

2020, was as follows:   

 

Director Director Position Tenure to 30 

June 2021 

Independence Audit & Risk 

Committee 

Remuneration 

& Nomination 

Committee 

      

Kevin Maloney Executive Chairman 9.0 years No No  No 

Mark Maloney (appointed 18 

February 2021) 

Executive Director 0.4 years No No No 

Andrew Greville (appointed 18 

February 2021) 

Non-Executive 

Director 

0.4 years Yes Yes  Yes  

Arthur Michael Anglin 

(appointed 18 February 2021) 

Non-Executive 

Director 

0.4 years Yes Yes  Yes  

Frederick Kempson Non-Executive 

Director 

2.2 years Yes Yes  Yes  

      

http://www.tullaresources.com/
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Takeover regulations 

Tulla Resources Plc is not subject to Chapters 6, 6A, 6B or 6C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), or Corporations Act, 

dealing with the acquisitions of shares (including substantial shareholdings and takeovers). Chapters 6, 6A, 6B and 6C 

of the Corporations Act dealing with the acquisition of shares (including acquisitions and takeovers) does not apply to 

the Company given it is incorporated in England and Wales. Instead, the Company is subject to the application of the 

City Code on Takeovers and Mergers in the UK (the “City Code”) and further detailed below.  

 

Mandatory bid  

The Company is subject to the application of the City Code. Under Rule 9 of the City Code, any person who acquires an 

interest in shares which, taken together with shares in which he or persons acting in concert with him are interested, carry 

30% or more of the voting rights in the Company will normally be required to make a general offer to all the remaining 

shareholders to acquire their shares. Similarly, when any person or persons acting in concert is interested in shares which 

in aggregate carry 30% of the voting rights of the Company but which do not carry more than 50% of the voting rights 

in the Company, a general offer will normally be required to be made if he or any person acting in concert with him 

acquires an interest in any other shares in the Company. An offer under Rule 9 must be in cash, normally at the highest 

price paid within the preceding 12 months for any interest in shares of the same class acquired in the Company by the 

person required to make the offer or any person acting in concert with him.  

 

Squeeze-out  

 

Under the Companies Act 2006 (England and Wales), if an offeror were to make an offer to acquire all of the shares in 

the Company not already owned by it and were to acquire 90% of the shares to which such offer related it could then 

compulsorily acquire the remaining 10%. The offeror would do so by sending a notice to members who had not accepted 

the offer telling them that, as it had acquired more than 90% of the shares to which the offer related, it will compulsorily 

acquire their shares and then, six weeks later, it would deliver a transfer of the outstanding shares in its favour to the 

Company which would execute the transfers on behalf of the relevant members, and pay the consideration to the 

Company which would hold the consideration on trust for those members. The consideration offered to the members 

whose shares are compulsorily acquired under this procedure must, in general, be the same as the consideration that was 

available under the original offer unless a member can show that the offer value is unfair.  

 

Sell-out  

The Companies Act 2006 (England and Wales) also gives minority members a right to be bought out in certain 

circumstances by an offeror who has made a takeover offer. If a takeover offer related to all the shares in the Company 

and, at any time before the end of the period within which the offer could be accepted, the offeror held or had agreed to 

acquire not less than 90% of the shares, any holder of shares to which the offer related who had not accepted the offer 

could by a written communication to the offeror require it to acquire those shares. The offeror would be required to give 

any member notice of his/her right to be bought out within one month of that right arising. The offeror may impose a 

time limit on the rights of minority members to be bought out, but that period cannot end less than three months after the 

end of the acceptance period or, if later, three months from the date on which notice is served on members notifying them 

of their sell-out rights. If a member exercises his/her rights, the offerors are entitled and bound to acquire those shares 

on the terms of the offer or on such other terms as may be agreed. 

 

Key risks  

The Company’s operations face many risks, including the inherent risks of mining. These risks are set out at pages 8 to 

14 and identify the material risks faced by Tulla Resources. However, these risks may not be the only risks. Additional 

unknown risks or risks that the Company currently considers immaterial, may also impair the business operations.  

 

There can be no guarantee that the Company will deliver on its business strategy, that the Company will generate any 

revenue. Investors should note that past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. If any of the risks 

referred to in this annual report were to occur, the results of operations, financial condition and prospects of the Company 

could be materially adversely affected. If that were to be the case, the trading price of the options and the underlying 

CDIs and/or the level of dividends or distributions (if any) received from the CDIs could decline significantly.  
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